
October 8, 2019                                 Staples High School 

 

WESTPORT BOARD OF EDUCATION 

POLICY COMMITTEE 

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING 

AGENDA 

(Agenda Subject to Modification in Accordance with Law) 

 

WORK SESSION:  
8:00 a.m. Staples High School 1025c 
 
DISCUSSION/ACTION: 
 
1. Minutes: September 10, 17, and 24, 2019, and October 1, 2019, pages 1-7 
 
2. Policy 4118.11/4218.11 Nondiscrimination (Title IX), pages 9-11 
 
DISCUSSION:  

 
1. Continued discussion of the following policies: 

 Policy 6146 Graduation Requirements 

 6172.6 Online Coursework, pages 13-17 

 4118.234 Psychotropic Drug Use, pages 19-24 

 4212.42 Drug and Alcohol Testing for Bus Drivers, pages 25-28 

 5131.6 Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco, pages 29-34 
 
2. Second reading of the following policies: 

 5118.1 Homeless Students, pages 35-57 

 5125.11 Health/Medical Records (HIPAA), pages 59-60 

 5131.7 Weapons and Dangerous Instruments, pages 61-62 

 5144.4 Physical Exercise and Discipline of Students, pages 63-64 

 5145.511 Sexual Abuse Prevention Education Program, pages 65-78 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 





Meeting: September 10, 2019    Westport Town 
Hall 

 
 

WESTPORT BOARD OF EDUCATION  
POLICY COMMITTEE WORK SESSION MINUTES  

  
  
 

Board Members Present: Administrators Present: 
Karen Kleine Committee Chair David Abbey Interim Superintendent (arrived at 8:19 a.m.) 
Mark Mathias Board Chair John Bayers Director of Human Resources 
 

 
PUBLIC SESSION:  ​8:04 a.m., Westport Town Hall Room 307 
 
MINUTES: ​September 18, October 4, October 16, and November 13, 2018 
 
Karen Kleine moved to approve the minutes of JSeptember 18, October 4, October 16, and November 
13, 2018; seconded by Mark Mathias and approved unanimously (2-0-0). 

 
DISCUSSION 
  
Second reading and discussion of Board of Education bylaws 
 
Karen Kleine moved to bring all bylaws before the full Board for a first reading at the September 16, 
2019 meeting; seconded by Mark Mathias and passed unanimously (2-0-0). 
  
First reading and discussion of the following policies and regulations: 

● P 7551 Naming Facilities 
● R 3515/1330 Regulations Governing Use of School Facilities 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Karen Kleine moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:23 a.m.; seconded by Mark Mathias and passed 
unanimously. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jennifer Caputo 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 1



October 8, 2019     Page 2



Meeting: September 17, 2019    Westport Town 
Hall 

 
 

WESTPORT BOARD OF EDUCATION  
POLICY COMMITTEE WORK SESSION MINUTES  

  
  
 

Board Members Present: Administrators Present: 
Karen Kleine Committee Chair John Bayers Director of Human Resources 
Mark Mathias Board Chair  
 

 
PUBLIC SESSION:  ​8:03 a.m., Westport Town Hall Room 307 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
Review of CABE policy audit  
 
Discussion of the following policies and regulations: 

●  ​P 7551 Naming Facilities 
● R 3515/1330 Regulations Governing Use of School Facilities 

 
First reading and discussion of Policy 6146 Graduation Requirements 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:58 a.m. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jennifer Caputo 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 3



October 8, 2019     Page 4



Meeting: September 24, 2019              Staples High School 
 
 

WESTPORT BOARD OF EDUCATION  
POLICY COMMITTEE WORK SESSION MINUTES  

  
  
 

Board Members Present: Administrators Present: 
Karen Kleine Committee Chair John Bayers Director of Human Resources 
Mark Mathias Board Chair Stafford Thomas, Staples High School Principal (left 9:35 a.m.) 

William Plunkett, Department Chair, Guidance (left 9:35 a.m.) 
 

 
PUBLIC SESSION:  ​8:15 a.m., Staples High School 1025c 

 
DISCUSSION 
 

First reading of the following policies: 
● Policy 6146 Graduation Requirements 
● 4118.11/4218.11 Nondiscrimination (Title IX) 
● 4118.234 Psychotropic Drug Use 
● 4212.42 Drug and Alcohol Testing for Bus Drivers 
● 5131.6 Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco 

 
 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 10:00 a.m.. 

 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jennifer Caputo 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 5



October 8, 2019     Page 6



Meeting: October 1, 2019                                                Westport Town Hall 
 
 

WESTPORT BOARD OF EDUCATION  
POLICY COMMITTEE WORK SESSION MINUTES  

                          
                                    

Board Members Present:   Administrators Present: 
Karen Kleine Committee Chair  David Abbey       Interim Superintendent (left 9:30 a.m.) 
Mark Mathias Board Chair   Tina Mannarino     Assistant Superintendent for Pupil 
      Services (left 9:34 a.m.) 
John Bayers       Director of Human Resources (left 9:43 a.m.) 
Others Present: 
Lisa Marriott        Administrative Assistant (left 8:35 a.m.) 
 
PUBLIC SESSION:  8:03 a.m., Westport Town Hall 309 

 
DISCUSSION  

1.    Second reading and discussion of the following policies: 

● Policy 6146 Graduation Requirements 
● 4118.11/4218.11 Nondiscrimination (Title IX) 
● 4118.234 Psychotropic Drug Use 
● 4212.42 Drug and Alcohol Testing for Bus Drivers 
● 5131.6 Alcohol, Drugs, Tobacco 

2.    First reading of the following policies: 

● 5118.1 Homeless Students 
● 5125.11 Health/Medical Records (HIPAA) 
● 5131.7 Weapons and Dangerous Instruments 
● 5144.4 Physical Exercise and Discipline of Students 
● 5145.511 Sexual Abuse Prevention Education Program 

● 6172.6 Online Coursework 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:57 a.m.. 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Jennifer Caputo 

October 8, 2019     Page 7



October 8, 2019     Page 8



P 4111.14118.11 
4211.14218.11 

 

Personnel -- Certified/Non-Certified 

 

 Non-Discrimination 

 

 

 

 

The Board of Education will not make employment decisions (including decisions related to 

hiring, assignment, compensation, promotion, demotion, disciplinary action and termination) on 

the basis of race, color, religion, age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, national origin, 

ancestry, disability (including pregnancy), genetic information, veteran status or gender identity 

or expression, except in the case of a bona fide occupational qualification. 

 

It is the policy of the Board of Education that any form of discrimination or harassment on the 

basis of race, religion, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age, disability 

(including pregnancy), genetic information, veteran status or gender identity or expression, or 

any other basis prohibited by state or federal law is prohibited, whether by students, Board 

employees or third parties subject to the control of the Board.  The Board’s prohibition of 

discrimination or harassment in its educational programs or activities expressly extends to 

academic, nonacademic and extracurricular activities, including athletics.  It is also the policy of 

the Board of Education to provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging 

any discrimination on the basis of protected characteristics such as race, color, religion, age, sex, 

sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, disability (including pregnancy), veteran status 

or gender identity or expression.   

 

For the purposes of this policy, “genetic information” means the information about genes, gene 

products, or inherited characteristics that may derive from an individual or a family member.  

“Genetic information” may also include an individuals’ family medical history, the results of an 

individual’s or family member’s genetic tests, the fact that an individual or an individual’s 

family member sought or received genetic services, and genetic information of a fetus carried by 

an individual or an individual’s family member or an embryo lawfully held by an individual or 

family member receiving assistive reproductive services. 

 

For the purposes of this policy, “veteran” means any person honorably discharged from, or 

released under honorable conditions from active service in, the United States Army, Navy, 

Marine Corps, Coast Guard and Air Force and any reserve component thereof, including the 

Connecticut National Guard.   

 

For the purposes of this policy, “gender identity or expression” means a person's gender-related 

identity, appearance or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance or 

behavior is different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or assigned 

sex at birth, which gender-related identity can be shown by providing evidence including, but not 

limited to, medical history, care or treatment of the gender-related identity, consistent and 

uniform assertion of the gender-related identity or any other evidence that the gender-related 

identity is sincerely held, part of a person's core identity or not being asserted for an improper 

purpose.  

 

Any employee wishing to file a complaint regarding discrimination may obtain a copy of the 

Board’s complaint procedures and complaint form which are included in the Board’s 
October 8, 2019     Page 9



Administrative Regulations Regarding Non-Discrimination/Personnel.  These regulations 

accompany Board Policy #4111.1 and Board Policy #4211.1 and are available online at 

http://www.westportps.org/district/policies or upon request from the main office of any district 

school.   

 

If a complaint involves allegations of discrimination or harassment based on reasons such as 

gender/sex or disability, such complaints will be handled under other appropriate policies (e.g., 

Policy #4118.112 and Policy #4218.112, Sex Discrimination/Harassment in the Workplace; 

Policy #4111.4 and 4211.4, Section 504/ADA).  

 

Any employee also may file a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights, U.S. Department of 

Education (“OCR”): 

 

Office for Civil Rights, Boston Office 

U.S. Department of Education 

8th Floor 

5 Post Office Square 

Boston, MA  02109- 3921 

(617) 289-0111 

http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/howto.html 

 

Employees may also file a complaint regarding employment discrimination with the Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission: 

 

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, Boston Area Office 

John F. Kennedy Federal Building 

475 Government Center 

Boston, MA  02203 

(800-669-4000) 

 

Employees may also file a complaint with the Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and 

Opportunities: 

 

Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities 

450 Columbus Blvd. 

Hartford, CT 06103-1835 

(800-477-5737) 

 

Anyone who has questions or concerns about this policy, or would like a copy of the Board’s 

complaint procedures or complaint forms related to claims of discrimination, may contact:  

 

The Office of the Superintendent, 203-341-1025 

 

Anyone who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination on 

the basis of gender/sex may contact the Board’s Title IX Coordinator: 

 

Director of Human Resources and General Administration, 203-341-1023 

 

Anyone who has questions or concerns about the Board’s policies regarding discrimination on 

the basis of disability may contact the Board’s Section 504/ADA Coordinator: 

 

Director Assistant Superintendent of Pupil Personnel Services, 203-341-1250 
October 8, 2019     Page 10

http://www.westportps.org/district/policies


 

 

Legal References:   

 

 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq. 

 Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. 

 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.  

 Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 

 Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794 

 Title II of the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008, Pub.L.110-

233, 42 U.S.C. § 2000ff; 29 CFR 1635.1 et seq. 

 Connecticut General Statutes § 10-153.  Discrimination on basis of marital status  

 Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act, Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-

60 

 Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-81a Discrimination on basis of sexual 

orientation:  Definitions 

 Connecticut General Statutes § 46a-81c Sexual orientation discrimination:  

Employment. 

 Public Act 17-127, An Act Concerning Discriminatory Practices Against Veterans, 

Leaves of Absence for National Guard Members, Application for Certain 

Medicaid Programs, and Disclosure of Certain Records to Federal Military Law 

Enforcement. 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy adopted: October 1976 WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

Policy amended: December 1978 Westport, Connecticut 

Policy amended: March 2005 

Policy amended: January 22, 2018 
 

October 8, 2019     Page 11



October 8, 2019     Page 12



 

1535477v4  © 2014 Shipman & Goodwin LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

 
             

Series 6000 
Instruction 

 
 

CREDIT FOR ONLINE COURSES 
 
 The _______ Board of Education recognizes the importance of technology in 
education and the growing popularity and use of online coursework.  In that regard, and 
in accordance with Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221a, the Board sanctions the 
receipt of online course credit to be used toward high school graduation requirements, in 
accordance with this policy. 
 
Pre-approval 
 
 To receive credit for online courses to be used toward high school graduation 
requirements, students must, prior to registering for the course, receive approval from the 
high school principal or his/her designee.  The decision of the principal or his/her 
designee with regard to online course credit approval is final.  Pre-approval for online 
course credit may be granted if the following requirements are met: 
 
 1. The workload required by the online course is equivalent to that of a 

similar course taught in a traditional classroom setting;  
 
 2. The content of the online course is rigorous and aligned with curriculum 

guidelines approved by the State Board of Education, where appropriate;  
 
 3. The course engages students and has interactive components, which may 

include, but are not limited to, required interactions between students and 
their teachers, participation in online demonstrations, discussion boards or 
virtual labs;  

 
 4.  The program of instruction for such online coursework is planned, 

ongoing and systematic;  
 
 5. The courses are:  
 
  a. taught by teachers who are certified in Connecticut or another state 

and have received training on teaching in an online environment, 
or  

 
  b. offered by institutions of higher education that are accredited by 

the Board of Regents for Higher Education or regionally 
accredited; and 

October 8, 2019     Page 13



 

1535477v4  
© 2014 Shipman & Goodwin LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

2

 
 6. The principal has determined, in his or her professional judgment, that, 

given the student’s academic and disciplinary history, the student is 
appropriately suited to engage in online coursework. 

 
Additional Requirements 
 
 Only students in grades 9-12 are eligible to receive credit toward high school 
graduation by taking online courses.  Students who have been pre-approved shall receive 
such credit upon completing the online course and obtaining a passing grade.   
 
 Any expense incurred for taking the online course shall be the responsibility of 
the student and shall not be the responsibility of the Board of Education. 
 
 
 
Legal References 
 
 Connecticut General Statutes § 10-221a. 
 
 
 
APPROVED: ________________ 
 
REVISED: ________________ 
 
6/11/2012 
 
 

October 8, 2019     Page 14



6172.6

Instruction

Distance Education

Virtual/Online Courses

The Board of Education believes that education through virtual/online courses or through university or college courses is an
alternative (effective) means of instruction for students. A virtual school is hereby defined as an educational organization
that offers courses at various grade levels through Internet or Web-based methods.  These schools can offer courses to
enhance, supplement or enrich the existing curriculum and can also provide an alternative means of instruction. Interactive
distance learning does not require the student to be physically present in the same location as the instructor or other students.

Virtual/on-line courses will be part of this District's educational program delivery system to increase accessibility and
flexibility in the delivery of instruction. In addition to regular classroom-based instruction, students in the District may earn
credit through distance education provided by virtual/online courses.

In order to earn credits in meeting the requirements for high school graduation through the successful completion of on-line
coursework, the Board, in compliance with C.G.S. 10-221a (17) shall ensure, at a minimum, that (a) the workload required
by the on-line course is equivalent to that of a similar course taught in a traditional District classroom setting, (b) the content
is rigorous and aligned with curriculum guidelines approved by the State Board of Education, where appropriate, (c) the
course engages students and has interactive components, which may include, but are not limited to, required interactions
between students and their teachers, participation in on-line demonstrations, discussion boards or virtual labs, (d) the
program of instruction for such on-line coursework is planned, ongoing and systematic, and (e) the courses are (1) taught by
teachers who are certified in the state or another state and have received training on teaching in an on-line environment, or
(2) offered by institutions of higher education that are accredited by the Department of Higher Education or regionally
accredited; or (3) toward meeting the high school graduation requirement upon the successful completion of the board
examination series permitting students in grades 9 through 12 to substitute achievement  of a passing score on a series of
examinations approved by the State Board of Education for meeting credit requirements for graduation.

If the drop-out rate of the District is determined to be 8% or higher in the previous school year, the Board of Education shall
establish an on-line credit recovery program for those students who are identified as being in danger of failing to graduate.
These students, once identified by certified personnel, must be allowed to complete on-line District-approved coursework
toward meeting high school graduation requirements. Each high school within the District shall designate, from among
existing staff, an online learning coordinator to administer and coordinate the online credit recovery program.

Insert additional district information as to how virtual/online courses links to district mission/goals/strategies focusing on
student achievement and accountability.

The Board of Education recognizes students may benefit from on-line courses or post-secondary courses to assist students in
obtaining credits necessary to earn a diploma, to maintain academic standings or to provide enrichment for those who might
require special courses.

The District will not use on-line courses as the sole medium for instruction in any required subject area for students in
grades K-8.

The District will integrate on-line courses as part of the regular instruction provided by a certified teacher for grades K-12.

High school students may also earn a maximum of ____ units of academic credit [number of credits to be decided at the
local district level] to be applied toward graduation requirements by completing online courses through agencies approved
by the Board unless the Principal waives that provision in writing stating the reasons why, citing whatever circumstances
that has caused this waiver. [Option: insert approved agencies here such as the Virtual High School, the Michigan Virtual
High School, or the Kentucky Virtual High School.]

Credit from an online or virtual course or a university/college course may be earned only in the following circumstances:

1. The course is not offered at the District's high school.
October 8, 2019     Page 15



2. The high school does offer the course, but the student is unable to take it due to an unavoidable scheduling conflict.

3. The course will serve as an alternative or a supplement to extended homebound instruction.

4. The District has expelled the student from the regular school setting, and the student has been offered an alternative
educational opportunity.

5. The Principal, with agreement from the student's teachers and parents/guardians, determines the student requires a
differentiated or accelerated learning environment.

6. Students taking such courses must be enrolled in the District and take the courses during the regular school day at the
school site.

7. A student has failed a course and wishes to recover credits in that course area.

8. The student's PPT or Section 504 Team has determined it to be an appropriate means of instruction.

9. Add additional circumstances here.

As determined by Board/school policy, students applying for permission to take a virtual/on-line course will do the
following:

•  Complete prerequisites and provide teacher/counselor recommendations to confirm the student possesses the maturity level needed to function
effectively in an online/college learning environment.

•  Obtain the written approval of the Principal or his/her designee before a student enrolls in a virtual course or the university/college course.

•  Adhere to the District code of conduct to include rules of behavior and consequences for violations.

•  Adhere to attendance requirements of the District.

The school must receive an official record of the final grade before awarding credit toward graduation. Only approved
courses shall be posted on student transcripts.

The tuition fee for a virtual course shall be borne by the District for students enrolled full-time. (Alternative: Any and all
fees imposed on the learner are the sole responsibility of the learner and not the Board of Education or its designee.) The
Board shall pay the fee for expelled students who are permitted to take virtual courses in alternative settings.

Through its policies and/or supervision plan, the school shall be responsible for providing appropriate supervision and
monitoring of students taking virtual courses.

Students will have access to sufficient library media resources such as a “virtual library” available through the World Wide
Web, laboratory facilities, technical assistance, and hands-on training and information.

District Review Committee

The Superintendent shall establish a committee to review all distance education courses prior to use by the District. This
committee will be comprised of (insert District choices here; for example, the director of instruction, district curriculum
coordinator, library media specialist, district technology coordinator, department heads, classroom teachers, student
representatives, etc.).

Evaluation

The District will evaluate the educational effectiveness of the distance education courses and the teaching/learning process
to include assessments based on state curriculum standards as well as student satisfaction. The District will use this
evaluation to decide whether to grant credit for the course or to continue or discontinue the use of the distance education
course.

Additional language to consider: October 8, 2019     Page 16



•  Approval of any course shall be based upon its compliance with Connecticut's academic standards and requirements, including but not limited to
the course content and rigor, its length and scope, its method of assessing knowledge acquired by the student, the qualifications of the instructor and
other appropriate factors.

•  Enrollment in an online course will be allowed only if an appropriately certified teacher is available and willing to supervise the student's
participation in the course.

•  No more than one credit may be earned toward the required credits in each of the core content areas.

•  On line course delivery must be from institutions accredited by the New England Association of Schools and Colleges, Southern Association of
Colleges and Schools, Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools, North Central Association of Colleges and Schools, Northwest
Association of Schools and Colleges or Western Association of Schools and Colleges or, if the institution is foreign, recognized by the Connecticut
State Department of Education as having appropriate academic standards.

(cf. 6141.321 - Computers: Acceptable Use of the Internet)

(cf. 6141.1 - Independent Study)

(cf. 6146 - Graduation Requirements)

Legal Reference: Connecticut General Statutes

10-221 Boards of education to prescribe rules, policies and procedures.

10-221a High school graduation requirements. (as amended by P.A. 00-124, An Act Concerning High
School Diplomas and Veterans of World War II, P.A. 00-156, An Act Requiring A Civics Course for High
School Graduation and P.A. 08-138, An Act Concerning High School Credit for Private World Language
Courses ,Other Subject Areas) and P.A. 10-111, An Act Concerning Education Reform in Connecticut.

Policy adopted:

October 8, 2019     Page 17

http://z2policy.cabe.org/cabe/docid=403&z2collection=core#JD_6141.321
http://z2policy.cabe.org/cabe/docid=425&z2collection=core#JD_6146
http://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/title_10.htm
http://www.cga.ct.gov/current/pub/title_10.htm


October 8, 2019     Page 18



P4118.234 

5141.234 

Personnel – Certified 

 

Students 

 

Prohibition on Recommendations for Psychotropic Drugs 

 

In accordance with Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-212b, the Board of Education prohibits school 

personnel from recommending the use of psychotropic drugs for any child.   Moreover, 

personnel may not require that a child obtain a prescription for a controlled substance (as defined 

in the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. § 801 et seq.) in order for the child to:  1) attend 

school; 2) receive an initial evaluation or reevaluation to determine a child's eligibility for special 

education; or 3) receive special education and related services. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

school health or mental health personnel may recommend that a child be evaluated by an 

appropriate medical practitioner and school personnel may consult with such practitioner with 

the consent of the parents or guardian of such child, in accordance with the procedures outlined 

below in the administrative regulations. 

 

I. Definitions 

 

For purposes of this policy, the following definitions apply: 

 

A. Psychotropic drugs means prescription medications for behavioral or social-

emotional concerns, such as attentional deficits, impulsivity, anxiety, depression 

and thought disorders, and includes, but is not limited to, stimulant medication 

and antidepressants. 

 

B. Recommend means to directly or indirectly suggest that a child should use 

psychotropic drugs. 

 

C. School health or mental health personnel means: 

 

1. school nurses or nurse practitioners appointed pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. 

§ 10-212; 

 

2. school medical advisors appointed pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-205; 

 

3. school psychologists; 

 

4. school social workers; 

October 8, 2019     Page 19



5. school counselors; 

 

6. school administrators; 

 

7. other school personnel (such as a teacher designated as a child's Case 

Manager) who have been identified by a Planning and Placement Team, 

Section 504 team, Student Assistance Team or similar group of district 

professionals as the person responsible for communication with a parent or 

guardian about a child’s need for medical evaluation; 

 

8. a school professional staff member designated by the Superintendent to 

communicate with a child's parent or guardian about a child’s need for 

medical evaluation. 

 

 

Legal References: 

 Conn. Gen. Stat. 10-76d 

 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-212b 

  

 34 C.F.R. § 300.174. Prohibition on mandatory medication 

  

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

  

October 8, 2019     Page 20



Administrative Regulations Concerning the Prohibition on Recommendations for 

Psychotropic Drugs 

 

In order to properly implement the Board policy prohibiting school personnel from 

recommending the use of psychotropic drugs for any child, the following administrative 

regulations are hereby established: 

 

Procedures  

 

A. A school health or mental health personnel, as defined above, may communicate 

with other school personnel about a child who may require a recommendation for 

a medical evaluation, provided that 1) there is a legitimate educational interest in 

sharing such information; and 2) such communication shall remain confidential, 

to the extent required by law.  

 

B. A school health or mental health personnel, as defined above, may communicate a 

recommendation to a parent or guardian that a child be evaluated by a medical 

practitioner provided that 1) based on such person’s professional experience, 

objective factors indicate that a medical evaluation may be necessary to address 

concerns relating to the child’s education and overall mental health; and 2) any 

communication includes the basis for the recommendation. 

 

C. If a parent or guardian determines that it is necessary to share medical 

information, including results of any medical evaluation, with school personnel, 

he or she may do so at any time.  School personnel who receive such information 

directly from a parent must maintain the confidentiality of such information, to 

the extent required by law.  

 

D. Any school personnel with a legitimate educational interest in obtaining 

information from a child’s medical practitioner outside the school who is not a 

school employee must obtain prior, written consent from the child’s parent or 

guardian to communicate with such outside medical practitioners.  Any school 

health or mental health personnel, as defined above, may request written consent 

from the parent or guardian.  To be valid, the written consent must: 1) be signed 

by the child’s parent or guardian; 2) be dated; 3) provide the child’s name; 4) 

provide the name of the medical practitioner and relevant contact information, to 

the extent known; and 5) indicate the scope of the consent.  

 

Nothing in this policy regulation shall be construed to prevent school personnel from consulting 

with a medical practitioner who has information concerning a child, as long as the school district 

has obtained consent from the parent(s) or guardian(s) of the child, in accordance with Section 

II.D., above.  Nothing in this policy regulation shall prevent a Planning and Placement Team 

from recommending a medical evaluation as part of an initial evaluation or reevaluation, as 

needed to determine a child's (i) eligibility for special education and related services, or (ii) 

educational needs for an individualized education program.  

 

October 8, 2019     Page 21



Legal References: 

 Conn. Gen. Stat. 10-76d 

 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-212b 

  

 34 C.F.R. § 300.174. Prohibition on mandatory medication 

  

 

 

Regulation adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 22



P4212.42 

Personnel – Certified 

 

Drug and Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

 

 

The _Westport Public School district is committed to the establishment of a drug use and alcohol 

misuse prevention program that meets all applicable requirements of the Omnibus Transportation 

Employee Testing Act of 1991 (OTETA), as may be amended, and applicable state statutes 

pertaining to pre-employment and random drug testing of school bus drivers. The District shall 

adhere to federal and state law and regulations requiring a school bus driver's drug and alcohol 

testing program. 

 

In addition to the above cited federal requirement, the Board of Education expects its school 

transportation carrier, by June 30, 2019, to provide training to all school bus drivers, including 

instruction on (1) identifying the signs and symptoms of anaphylaxis, (2) administering 

epinephrine by a cartridge injector ("EpiPen"), (3) notifying emergency personnel, and (4) 

reporting an incident involving a student's life-threatening allergic reaction. 

 

Beginning July 1, 2019, each carrier must provide the training to school bus drivers following 

the issuance or renewal of a public passenger endorsement to operate a school bus for carrier 

employees, and upon the hiring of a school bus driver who is not employed by such carrier (e.g., 

subcontractor), except a driver who received the training after the most recent issuance or 

renewal of his or her endorsement is not required to repeat it. 

 

School districts contracting with a private service provider must ensure the provider has a drug 

and alcohol testing program fulfilling federal regulations, and state law pertaining to a required 

pre-employment and random drug testing program for drivers of school buses and school 

transportation vehicles (STVs) that carry ten or fewer students. 

 

Legal Reference:  United States Code, Title 49 

 

2717 Alcohol and controlled substances testing (Omnibus Transportation 

Employee Testing Act of 1991) 

 

Code of Federal Regulations, Title 49; section 40.85 

 

40 Procedures for Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing 

Programs 

 

382 Controlled Substance and Alcohol Use and Testing 

 

395 Hours of Service Drivers 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 23



Holiday v. City of Modesto (1991) 229 Cal. App. 3d. 528, 540. 

 

International Brotherhood of Teamsters v. Department of Transportation 

 

932 F. 2d 1292 (1991) 

 

American Trucking Association, Inc. v. Federal Highway Administration, 

(1995) WL 136022 (4th circuit) 

 

10-212c Life-threatening food allergies and glycogen storage disease: 

Guidelines; district plans. (as amended by PA 18-185) 

 

14-261b Drug and alcohol testing of drivers of certain vehicles, mechanics 

and forklift operators 

 

14-276a School bus operators and operators of student transportation 

vehicles: Regulations: qualifications; training; drug testing. 

 

52-557b Immunity from liability for emergency medical assistance first 

aid or medication by injection. 

 

School personnel not required to administer or render. (as amended by PA 

05-144, An Act Concerning the Emergency Use of Cartridge Injectors and 

PA 18-185, An Act Concerning Life-Threatening Food Allergies in 

Schools) 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

Policy amended:  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 24



P5131.6 

Students 

 
Drug and Alcohol Use by Students, Including Chemical Health for Student Athletes 

Alcohol Use, Drugs, and Tobacco (Including Performance Enhancing Substances) 

 

 

Drugs and Alcohol 

 

The Board is required by Connecticut law to prescribe rules for the management and discipline 

of its schools.  In keeping with this mandate, the unlawful use, sale, distribution or possession of 

controlled drugs, controlled substances, drug paraphernalia, as defined in C.G.S. Section 21a-

240, or alcohol on or off school property or during any school sponsored activity is prohibited.  It 

shall be the policy of the Board to take positive action through education, counseling, discipline, 

parental involvement, medical referral, and law enforcement referral, as appropriate, in the 

handling of incidents in the schools involving the unlawful possession, distribution, sale or use of 

substances that affect behavior. 

 

Performance-Enhancing Drugs (Including Food Supplement) 

 

The Board participates in the Connecticut Interscholastic Athletic Conference (“CIAC”).  In 

accordance with CIAC participation rules and the Board’s obligation under state and federal law, 

the Board prohibits the unauthorized use, sale, distribution or possession of controlled drugs, 

controlled substances, drug paraphernalia, performance enhancing substances or alcohol during 

any school sponsored athletic activity, whether occurring on or off school property.  It shall be 

the policy of the Board to take positive action through education, counseling, discipline, parental 

involvement, medical referral, and law enforcement referral, as appropriate, in the handling of 

incidents by student athletes involving the possession, distribution, sale or use of substances that 

affect behavior, including performance enhancing substances.  This policy applies to all student 

athletes participating in school sponsored athletics, whether or not such athletes are participating 

in CIAC controlled activities. 

 

Tobacco/E-Cigarette Use by Students 

 

There shall be no smoking or any other unauthorized use or possession of tobacco, tobacco 

products, including chewing tobacco or tobacco paraphernalia, and electronic nicotine delivery 

systems or vapor products by students in any school building or school vehicle at any time or on 

any school grounds during the school day, or at any time when the student is subject to the 

supervision of designated school personnel. Such as when the student is at any school function, 

extracurricular event, field trip, or school related activity such as a work-study program. An 

ongoing program of student support and counseling will be offered to provide support for 

students who wish to break the smoking habit. 

 

Tobacco includes, but is not limited to cigarettes, cigars, snuff, smoking tobacco, smokeless 

tobacco, nicotine, nicotine delivering systems or vapor product, chemicals, or devices that 

October 8, 2019     Page 25



produce the same flavor or physical effect of nicotine substances; and any other tobacco or 

nicotine innovations. 

 

Alternate language to consider: For purposes of this policy, "use of tobacco" shall mean all uses 

of tobacco, including but is not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, snuff, blunts, bidis, pipes, chewing 

tobacco, or any other substance that contains tobacco or nicotine, and all other forms of 

smokeless tobacco, rolling papers and any other items containing or reasonably resembling 

tobacco or tobacco products. In order to protect students and staff, the Board prohibits the use of 

tobacco or nicotine-based products in school buildings, on school grounds, in school vehicles, or 

at any school-related event. 

 

Students who violate this policy will be subject to disciplinary action. The Superintendent shall 

propose and the Board of Education shall approve procedures and regulations to ensure that any 

student violating this policy is subjected to disciplinary action, and that any disciplinary actions 

imposed for similar actions are treated consistently. 

 

Definitions 

 

(1) Controlled Drugs:  means those drugs which contain any quantity of a substance which 

has been designated as subject to the federal Controlled Substances Act, or which has 

been designated as a depressant or stimulant drug pursuant to federal food and drug laws, 

or which has been designated by the Commissioner of Consumer Protection pursuant to 

C.G.S. Section 21a-243, as having a stimulant, depressant or hallucinogenic effect upon 

the higher functions of the central nervous system and as having a tendency to promote 

abuse or psychological or physiological dependence, or both.  Such controlled drugs are 

classifiable as amphetamine-type, barbiturate-type, cannabis-type, cocaine-type, 

hallucinogenic, morphine-type and other stimulant and depressant drugs.  C.G.S. Section 

21a-240(8).   

 

(2) Controlled Substances:  means a drug, substance or immediate precursor in schedules I to 

V, inclusive, of the Connecticut controlled substance scheduling regulations adopted 

pursuant to C.G.S. Section 21a-243.  C.G.S. Section 21a-240(9).   

 

(3) Professional Communication:   any communication made privately and in confidence by 

a student to a professional employee of such student's school in the course of the 

professional employee's employment.  C.G.S. Section 10-154a(a)(4). 

 

(4) Professional Employee:  means a person employed by a school who "(A) holds a 

certificate from the State Board of Education, (B) is a member of a faculty where 

certification is not required, (C) is an administration officer of a school, or (D) is a 

registered nurse employed by or assigned to a school."  C.G.S. Section 10-154a(a)(2). 

 

(5) Drug Paraphernalia:  means any equipment, products and materials of any kind which are 

used, intended for use or designed for use in planting, propagating, cultivating, growing, 

harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, converting, producing, processing, preparing, 

testing, analyzing, packaging, repackaging, storing, containing or concealing, or 

October 8, 2019     Page 26



injecting, ingesting, inhaling or otherwise introducing controlled drugs or controlled 

substances into the human body, including but not limited to all items specified in C.G.S. 

Section 21a-240(20)(A), such as "bongs," pipes, "roach clips," miniature cocaine spoons, 

crack cocaine vials, tobacco rolling papers, and any object or container used, intended or 

designed for use in storing, concealing, possessing, distributing or selling controlled 

drugs or controlled substances.   C.G.S. Section 21a-240(20)(A). 

 

(6) Performance Enhancing Substances:  means any anabolic steroid, hormone or analogue, 

diuretic or other substance designed to enhance a student’s performance in athletic 

competition, including creatine, androstenedione, ephredrine or other performance 

enhancing nutritional supplements as defined by the World Anti-Doping Agency 

(WADA) www.wada-ama.org, except when used under the care and direction of a 

licensed medical professional and only then in the manner prescribed by the medical 

professional and manufacturer’s recommendations. 

 

(7) Student Athlete:  means any student participating in an extracurricular school-sponsored 

athletic activity, whether interscholastic or intramural, including but not limited to 

student athletes who are participating in CIAC controlled activities. 
 

(8) Electronic nicotine delivery system means an electronic device that may be used to 

simulate smoking in the delivery of nicotine or other substance to a person inhaling from 

the device, and includes, but is not limited to, an electronic cigarette, electronic cigar, 

electronic cigarillo, electronic pipe or electronic hookah and any related device and any 

cartridge or other component of such device. 

 

(9) Liquid nicotine container means a container that holds a liquid substance containing 

nicotine that is sold, marketed or intended for use in an electronic nicotine delivery 

system or vapor product, except "liquid nicotine container" does not include such a 

container that is prefilled and sealed by the manufacturer and not intended to be opened 

by the consumer. 

 

(10) Vapor product means any product that employs a heating element, power source, 

electronic circuit or other electronic, chemical or mechanical means, regardless of shape 

or size, to produce a vapor that may or may not include nicotine that is inhaled by the 

user of such product. 

 

 

Legal References: 

 

Connecticut General Statutes: 

 

1-21b Smoking prohibited in certain places.  

 

Public Act 18-185, An Act Concerning the Recommendations of the Task Force on Life-

Threatening Food Allergies in Schools 

October 8, 2019     Page 27

http://www.wada-ama.org/


 

 Section 10-154a   

 Section 10-212a   

 Section 10-221   

 Sections 10-233a through 10-233f     

Section 21a-240 

Section 21a-243 

Section 21a-408a through 408q 

53-198 Smoking in motor buses, railroad cars and school buses 

 

Public Act 16-23, “An Act Concerning the Palliative Use of Marijuana” 

Public Act 14-76 An Act Concerning the Governor's Recommendations Regarding 

Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Youth Smoking Prevention. 

 

Public Act 15-206 An Act Regulating Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems and Vapor 

Products 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

  

October 8, 2019     Page 28



Administrative Regulations Concerning Alcohol Use, Drugs, and Tobacco (including 

Performance Enhancing Substances) 

 

Procedures 

 

(1) Discretionary Nature of Student Athletics. 

 

The Board sponsors athletic programs as part of its extracurricular program.  The 

opportunity to participate in extracurricular activities such as student athletics is a 

privilege, not a right. The Board may remove students from participation in athletics 

activities in its discretion.      

 

(2) Emergencies. 

 

If an emergency situation results from drugs, performance enhancing substances, or 

alcohol, the student/student athlete shall be sent to the school nurse or medical advisor 

immediately, or emergency medical personnel will be notified.  The parent or designated 

responsible person will also be notified as soon as possible. 

 

(3) Prescribed Medications. 

 

 Students may possess and/or self-administer medications in school in accordance with the 

Board’s policy concerning the administration of medication in school.  

 

 Students taking improper amounts of a prescribed medication, or otherwise taking 

medication contrary to the provisions of the Board’s policy on the administration of 

medication will be subject to the procedures for improper drug or alcohol use outlined in 

this policy.   

 

The parent or guardian of any student athlete who is required to take any prescribed 

medication during student athletic activities shall so inform the school nurse or the person 

designated to act in the absence of a nurse.  Such prescribed medication will then be 

administered to the student athlete under the supervision of the school nurse or designee 

in accordance with Connecticut General Statute Section 10-212a and the applicable 

regulations and in accordance with any Board policies and regulations concerning 

medication administration, except as provided below. 

 

 Student athletes taking improper amounts of a prescribed medication, or taking a 

prescribed medication without proper notification and supervision of the school nurse or 

designee, will be subject to the procedures for improper drug or alcohol use outlined in 

this policy.   

 

 Student athletes with a documented medical history demonstrating the need for regular 

use of performance enhancing substances for therapeutic purposes shall not be considered 

to be in violation of this policy when such substances are properly prescribed and taken 

by the student athlete in accordance with Connecticut General Statute Section 10-212a 

October 8, 2019     Page 29



and the applicable regulations and in accordance with any Board policies and regulations 

concerning medication administration. 

 

 Student athletes with a documented medical history demonstrating the need for regular, 

palliative use of marijuana shall not be considered to be in violation of this policy when 

such substance is properly prescribed and taken by the student athlete in accordance with 

Connecticut General Statutes § 21a-408a through 408q.  Under no circumstances shall 

the school nurse or designee administer to the student, or permit the palliative use of 

marijuana by the student, on a school bus, school grounds or property, in public places or 

in the presence of persons under the age of eighteen. 

 

(4) Voluntary Disclosure of Drug/Alcohol Problem (Self-Referral). 

 

 The following procedures will be followed when a student or student athlete privately, 

and in confidence, discloses to a professional employee in a professional communication 

information concerning the student's use, possession, distribution or sale of a controlled 

drug, controlled substance or alcohol.   

 

(a) Professional employees are permitted, in their professional judgment, to disclose 

any information acquired through a professional communication with a student, 

when such information concerns alcohol or drug abuse or any alcohol or drug 

problem of such student.  In no event, however, will they be required to do so.  

C.G.S. Section 10-154a(b). 

 

(b) Any physical evidence obtained from such student or student athlete through a 

professional communication indicating that a crime has been or is being 

committed by the student or student athlete must be turned over to school 

administrators or law enforcement officials as soon as possible, but no later than 

two calendar days after receipt of such physical evidence, excluding Saturdays, 

Sundays and holidays.  Employees are encouraged to contact the school 

administrator immediately upon obtaining physical evidence.  In no case, 

however, will such employee be required to disclose the name of the student from 

whom the evidence was obtained.  C.G.S. Section 10-154a(b). 

 

(c) Any professional employee who has received a professional communication from 

a student may obtain advice and information concerning appropriate resources 

and refer the student or student athlete accordingly, subject to the rights of the 

professional employee as described in paragraph (a) above.   

 

(d) If a student or student athlete consents to disclosure of a professional 

communication concerning the student's alcohol or drug problem, or if the 

professional employee deems disclosure to be appropriate, the professional 

employee should report the student's name and problem to the school's building 

administrator or designee who shall refer the student to appropriate school staff 

members for intervention and counseling.  

 

October 8, 2019     Page 30



(5) Involuntary Disclosure or Discovery of Drug/Alcohol Problems. 

 

When a professional employee, or a coach or volunteer responsible for or involved in 

student athletic programs, obtains information related to a student or student athlete from 

a source other than the student's confidential disclosure, that the student, on or off school 

grounds or at a school sponsored activity, is unlawfully under the influence of, or 

unlawfully possesses, uses, dispenses, distributes, administers, sells or aids in the 

procurement of a controlled drug, controlled substance, drug paraphernalia or alcohol, 

that information is considered to be involuntarily disclosed.  In this event, the following 

procedures will apply. 

 

(a) The professional employee will immediately report the information to the 

building administrator or designee.  The building administrator or designee will 

then refer the student or student athlete to appropriate school staff members for 

intervention and counseling. 

 

(b) Any physical evidence (for example, alcohol, drugs or drug paraphernalia) 

obtained from a student indicating that a crime has been or is being committed by 

the student must be turned over to the building administrator or designee or to law 

enforcement officials as soon as possible, but no later than within two calendar 

days after receipt of such physical evidence, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and 

holidays.  C.G.S. Section 10-154a(b).  Because such evidence was not obtained 

through a professional communication, the name of the student must be disclosed 

to the building administrator or designee. 

 

(c) Search and Seizure of Students and/or Possessions: A professional employee, 

coach, or volunteer who reasonably suspects that a student is violating a 

state/federal law, or a school substance abuse/chemical health policy must 

immediately report his/her suspicion to the building administrator or designee.  

The building administrator or designee may then search a student's person or 

possessions connected to that person, in accordance with the Board's policies and 

regulations if he/she has reasonable suspicion from the inception of the search that 

the student has violated or is violating either the law or a school substance 

abuse/chemical health policy. 

 

 Any physical evidence obtained in the search of a student, or a student's 

possessions, indicating that the student is violating or has violated a state or 

federal law must be turned over to law enforcement officials as soon as possible, 

but not later than within three calendar days after receipt of such physical 

evidence, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays.  C.G.S. Section 10-154a(c).  

All school employees are encouraged to contact the school administration 

immediately upon obtaining physical evidence.   

 

(6) Consequences for the Use, Sale, Distribution or Possession of Controlled Drugs, 

Controlled Substances, Drug Paraphernalia, Performance Enhancing Substances, or 

Alcohol. 

October 8, 2019     Page 31



 

(a) Any student in the Westport Public Schools using, consuming, possessing, being 

under the influence of, manufacturing, distributing, selling or aiding in the 

procurement of controlled drugs, controlled substances, drug paraphernalia, 

performance enhancing substances, or alcohol either on or off school property, or 

at a school-sponsored activity, except as such use or possession is in accordance 

with Connecticut General Statutes § 21a-408a through 408q, is subject to 

discipline up to and including expulsion pursuant to the Board's student discipline 

policy.   

 

(b) In conformity with the Board’s student discipline policy, students may be 

suspended or expelled for drug or alcohol use off school grounds if such drug or 

alcohol use is considered seriously disruptive of the educational process.  In 

determining whether the conduct is seriously disruptive of the educational 

process, the Administration and the Board may consider, among other factors:  1) 

whether the drug or alcohol use occurred within close proximity of a school; 2) 

whether other students from the school were involved; and 3) whether any injuries 

occurred. 

 

(c) If a school administrator has reason to believe that any student was engaged, on or 

off school grounds, in offering for sale or distribution a controlled substance (as 

defined by Conn. Gen. Stat. § 21a-240(9)), whose manufacturing, distribution, 

sale, prescription, dispensing, transporting, or possessing with intent to sell or 

dispense, offering or administering is subject to criminal penalties under Conn. 

Gen. Stats. §§ 21a-277 and 21a-278, the administrator will recommend such 

student for expulsion, in accordance with the Board’s student discipline policy. 

 

(d) Students found to be in violation of this policy may be referred by the building 

administrator to an appropriate agency licensed to assess and treat drug and 

alcohol involved individuals.  In such event, assessment and treatment costs will 

be the responsibility of the parent or guardian.   

 

(e) A meeting may be scheduled with appropriate school staff members for the 

purpose of discussing the school's drug and alcohol policy with the student and 

parent or guardian.   

 

(f) Law enforcement officials may be contacted by the building administrator in the 

case of suspected involvement in the use, sale or distribution of controlled drugs, 

controlled substances, drug paraphernalia or alcohol.   

 

(g) A student athlete found by the administration to have violated this policy may, in 

the discretion of school administrators, be suspended from play for short or long 

term periods, or may have their have their student athletic participation privileges 

revoked.  

 

October 8, 2019     Page 32



(h) A student athlete found by the administration to have used performance 

enhancing substances shall receive a minimum penalty of revocation of athletic 

participation privileges for one hundred eighty (180) days.  The Board shall report 

the violation to the CIAC.  

 

(i) The Board recognizes that the CIAC may impose additional sanctions on student 

athletes participating in CIAC controlled activities who are found to have violated 

this policy.        

 

(7) Prohibition on the Promotion or Dispensing of Performance Enhancing Substances by 

School Staff Members, Coaches or Volunteers. 

 

(a) No school staff member, coach or volunteer responsible for or involved in student 

athletic programs shall dispense any drug, medication (prescription or non-

prescription), or food supplement to any student athlete except under the 

supervision of the school nurse or designee in accordance with Connecticut 

General Statute. Section 10-212a and the applicable regulations, and in 

accordance with any Board policies and regulations concerning medication 

administration. 

 

(b) No school staff member, coach or volunteer responsible for or involved in student 

athletic programs shall encourage the use of any drug, medication (prescription or 

non-prescription), or food supplement in a manner not described by the 

manufacturer.   

 

(c) No school staff member, coach or volunteer responsible for or involved in student 

athletic programs shall supply, recommend, or knowingly permit student athletes 

to use any drug, medication (prescription or non-prescription), or food supplement 

for the specific purpose of enhancing their athletic performance.  

 

(d) A school staff member, or coach responsible for or involved in student athletic 

programs, who violates the terms of this policy shall be subject to discipline, up to 

and including termination of employment.  The Board may also report violations 

of this policy by employees to parents of student athletes and/or state and local 

authorities.  

 

(e) The Board shall immediately terminate a volunteer responsible for or involved in 

student athletic programs who violates the terms of this policy. The Board may 

also report violations of this policy by volunteers to parents of student athletes 

and/or state and local authorities.  

 

(8) Publication of Chemical Health Policy to School Staff Members, Coaches, Volunteers 

and Student Athletes. 

 

(a) The Board shall publish this chemical health policy to all school staff members, 

coaches and volunteers responsible for or involved in student athletic programs. 

October 8, 2019     Page 33



 

(b) The Board shall publish this chemical health policy to all student athletes and 

their parents/guardians. 
 

 

 

 

 

Legal References: 

 

Connecticut General Statutes: 

 

 Public Act 18-185, An Act Concerning the Recommendations of the Task Force on Life-

Threatening Food Allergies in Schools 

 

 Section 10-154a   

 Section 10-212a   

 Section 10-221   

 Sections 10-233a through 10-233f     

Section 21a-240 

Section 21a-243 

Section 21a-408a through 408q 

 

Public Act 16-23, “An Act Concerning the Palliative Use of Marijuana” 

 

 

 

Regulation adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 34



 

 

P5118.1 

Students 

 
HOMELESS CHILDREN AND YOUTH 

 

 

In accordance with federal law, it is the policy of the Westport Board of Education (the 

“Board”) to prohibit discrimination against, segregation of, or stigmatization of, homeless 

children and youth.  The Board authorizes the Administration to establish regulations 

setting forth procedures necessary to implement the requirements of law with respect to 

homeless children and youth.  In the event of conflict between federal and/or state law and 

these administrative regulations, the provisions of law shall control.  

 

Legal References:   

State Law: 

Public Act 19-179, “An Act Concerning Homeless Students’ 

Access to Education” 

 

10-186 Duties of local and regional boards of education re 

school attendance. Hearings. Appeals to state board. 

Establishment of hearing board. Readmission. Transfers 

 

10-253 School privileges for children in certain placements, 

non-resident children and children in temporary shelters 

 

   Federal Law: 

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Education Assistance Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 11431 et seq., as amended by Every Student 

Succeeds Act, Pub. L. 114-95. 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 
  

October 8, 2019     Page 35



 

R5118.1 

Students 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS REGARDING HOMELESS CHILDREN 

AND YOUTH 

 

In accordance with federal law, the Westport Board of Education (the “Board”) does not 

permit discrimination against, segregation of, or stigmatization of, homeless children and 

youth.  The following sets forth the procedures to implement the requirements of law with 

respect to homeless children and youth.  In the event of conflict between federal and/or 

state law and these regulations with respect to homeless children and youth, the provisions 

of law shall control.  

 

I. Definitions: 

 

A. Enroll and Enrollment:  includes attending classes and participating fully 

in school activities. 

 

B. Homeless Children and Youth:  means children and youth twenty-one 

years of age and younger  who lack a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime 

residence, including children and youth who: 

 

1. Are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, 

economic hardship, or a similar reason. 

 

2. Are living in motels, hotels, trailer parks or camping grounds due to 

the lack of alternative adequate accommodations. 

 

3. Are living in emergency or transitional shelters.   

 

4. Are abandoned in hospitals. 

 

5. Have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place 

not designed for or ordinarily used as a regular sleeping 

accommodation for human beings. 

 

6. Are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, 

substandard housing, bus or train stations, or similar settings. 

 

7. Are migratory children living in the above described circumstances. 

 

C. School of Origin:  means the school that a homeless child or youth 

attended when permanently housed or the school in which the homeless 

October 8, 2019     Page 36



child was last enrolled.  School of origin may include preschool 

administered by the District and, when a homeless child or youth completes 

the final grade level served by the school of origin, school of origin also 

includes the designated receiving school at the next grade level for all 

feeder schools.  

 

D. Unaccompanied Youth:  means a homeless child or youth not in the 

physical custody of a parent or guardian. 

 

II. Homeless Liaison: 

 

A. The District’s Homeless Liaison is the Assistant Superintendent for Pupil 

Personnel Services. 

 

B. The duties of the Homeless Liaison include: 

 

1. Ensuring that homeless children and youth are identified by school 

personnel and through outreach and coordination with other entities 

and agencies. 

 

2. Ensuring that homeless children and youth enroll in, and have full 

and equal opportunity to succeed in the District’s schools, including 

ensuring that such homeless children and youth have opportunities 

to meet the same challenging State academic standards as other 

children and youths. 

 

3. Ensuring that homeless families, children, and youths receive 

educational services for which such families, children and youth are 

eligible, including services through Head Start and Even Start, early 

intervention services under Part C of the Individuals with 

Disabilities Education Act and preschool programs administered by 

the District. 

 

4. Ensuring that parents and guardians of homeless children and youth 

and unaccompanied youth receive referrals to health care services, 

dental services, mental health and substance abuse services, housing 

services, and other appropriate services. 

 

5. Ensuring that parents and guardians of homeless children and youth 

and unaccompanied youth are informed of educational and related 

opportunities available to homeless children and youth, including 

extracurricular activities, and that parents and guardians of homeless 

children and youth are provided with meaningful opportunities to 

participate in the education of their children. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 37



6. Ensuring that public notice of the educational rights of homeless 

children under the McKinney-Vento Act is disseminated in locations 

frequented by parents, guardians, and unaccompanied youth in a 

manner and form that is understandable to them. 

 

7. Ensuring that enrollment disputes are mediated in accordance with 

the McKinney-Vento Act, including carrying out the initial dispute 

resolution process and ensuring that homeless students are 

immediately enrolled pending resolution of any enrollment dispute. 

 

8. Ensuring that parent(s)/guardian(s) of homeless children and youth 

and unaccompanied youth are fully informed of all transportation 

services, including transportation to and from the school of origin, 

and are assisted in accessing those services. 

 

9. Assisting homeless children and youth in enrolling in school and 

accessing school services and removing barriers to enrollment and 

retention due to outstanding fees, fines or absences. 

 

10. Informing parent(s)/guardian(s) of homeless children and youth and 

unaccompanied youth, school personnel, and others of the rights of 

such students. 

 

11. Assisting homeless children and youth who do not have 

immunizations or immunization/medical records to obtain necessary 

immunizations or immunization/medical records. 

 

12. Assisting unaccompanied youth in placement/enrollment decisions, 

including considering the unaccompanied youth’s wishes in those 

decisions, and providing notice to the unaccompanied youth of his 

or her right to appeal such decisions. 

 

13. Ensuring that high school age homeless children and youth receive 

assistance from counselors to advise such youths on preparation and 

readiness for college, including informing such children and youths 

of their status as independent students under the Higher Education 

Act of 1965 and that they may obtain assistance from the district to 

receive verification of this status for purposes of the Free 

Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA). 

 

14. Ensuring collaboration with community and school personnel 

responsible for providing education and related support services to 

homeless children and youth. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 38



15.  Collaborating with and participating in professional development 

and technical assistance activities offered by the State Office of the 

Coordinator for the Education of Homeless Children and Youth. 

 

16. Ensuring that school personnel providing services to homeless 

children and youth receive professional development and other 

technical assistance activities regarding the McKinney-Vento Act. 

 

17. Ensuring that unaccompanied youth are enrolled in school and that 

procedures are implemented to identify and remove barriers that 

prevent them from receiving credit for full or partial coursework 

satisfactorily completed at a prior school, in accordance with State, 

local, and school policies.  

 

18. With appropriate training, affirming that a child or youth who is 

eligible for and participating in a program provided by the District, 

or the immediate family of such a child or youth, is eligible for 

homeless assistance programs administered under Title IV of the 

McKinney-Vento Act. 

 

III. Enrollment of Homeless Children and Youth: 

 

A. Enrollment of homeless children and youth may not be denied or delayed 

due to the lack of any document normally required for enrollment.  

However, administrators shall require the parent/guardian or 

unaccompanied youth to provide contact information prior to enrollment. 

 

B. To facilitate enrollment, administrators: 

 

1. May permit parents/guardians of homeless children and youth and 

unaccompanied youth to sign affidavits of residency to replace 

typical proof of residency. 

 

2. May permit unaccompanied youth to enroll with affidavits to replace 

typical proof of guardianship. 

 

3. Shall refer parent/guardian/unaccompanied youth to the Liaison who 

will assist in obtaining immunizations. 

 

4. Shall contact previous schools for records and assistance with 

placement decisions. 

 

5. Shall maintain records so that the records are available in a timely 

fashion when the student enters a new school or school district. 

 

IV. School Selection: 

October 8, 2019     Page 39



 

A. Standards for School Selection: 

 

1.     The District is required to make a determination as to the best 

interests of a homeless child or youth in making a determination as 

to the appropriate school of placement.  

 

2.      In making such a determination, the District is required to keep a 

homeless child or youth in his/her school of origin for the duration 

of homelessness when a homeless child or youth becomes homeless 

between academic years or during an academic year; or for the 

remainder of the academic year if the homeless child or youth 

becomes permanently housed during an academic year, to the extent 

feasible, unless it is against the wishes of the parent or guardian or 

unaccompanied youth.  Otherwise, the homeless child or youth shall 

be enrolled in a public school that non-homeless students who live 

in the area where the homeless child or youth is actually living are 

eligible to attend.  

 

3. The District must presume that keeping the homeless child or youth 

in the school of origin is in the child’s or youth’s best interest unless 

doing so is contrary to the request of the child’s or youth’s parent or 

guardian, or in the case of an unaccompanied youth, the 

unaccompanied youth.  In considering the child’s or youth’s best 

interest, the District must consider student-centered factors related to 

the child’s or youth’s best interest, giving priority to the request of 

the parent or guardian or unaccompanied youth. 

 

B. Procedures for Review of School Selection Recommendation: 

 

1. The Principal or his/her designee of the school in which enrollment 

is sought review an enrollment request in accordance with the 

standards discussed above, and shall make an initial 

recommendation regarding same.  If the Principal or his/her 

designee's recommendation is to select a placement other than the 

school desired by the parent(s) or guardian(s) of the homeless child 

or youth or the unaccompanied youth, then the Principal or his/her 

designee shall refer the matter to the Superintendent or his/her 

designee for review of the recommendation and the reasons therefor, 

and shall notify the District’s Homeless Liaison of same. 

 

2. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall review the matter and 

consult with the District Homeless Liaison concerning same.  If the 

Superintendent or his/her designee agrees with the recommendation 

of the Principal or his/her designee, and a dispute remains between 

the District and the parent(s) or guardian(s) of a homeless child or 

October 8, 2019     Page 40



youth or an unaccompanied youth about a school selection and/or 

enrollment decision; the Superintendent or his/her designee shall 

provide the parent(s) or guardian(s) of a homeless child or youth or 

an unaccompanied youth with a written explanation of the District's 

decision regarding this matter, and the right to appeal such decision 

to the Board.  

 

C. Dispute Resolution Process: 

 

1. The District’s Homeless Liaison shall be responsible for promoting 

objective and expeditious dispute resolutions, and adherence to these 

administrative regulations. 

 

2. If the parent(s) or guardian(s) of a homeless child or youth or an 

unaccompanied youth disputes the school placement decision or 

enrollment, the District must immediately enroll the homeless child 

or youth in the school in which enrollment is sought, pending 

resolution of the dispute. The homeless child or youth shall also 

have the right to all appropriate educational services, including 

transportation to and from the school in which enrollment is sought, 

while the dispute is pending. 

 

3. If necessary, the District Homeless Liaison shall assist parent(s) or 

guardian(s) of a homeless child or youth or an unaccompanied youth 

with completion of the necessary appeal paperwork required to file 

for an appeal to the Board, and provide the parent(s) or guardian(s) 

of a homeless child or youth or an unaccompanied youth with a 

copy of Section 10-186(b).   

 

4. Not later than ten (10) days after receipt of an appeal to the Board 

by a parent(s) or guardian(s) of a homeless child or youth or an 

unaccompanied youth, the District shall hold a hearing before the 

Board concerning such appeal, and such hearing shall be shall be 

conducted in accordance with Section 10-186(b).  

 

5. If the Board finds in favor of the Superintendent or his/her designee, 

a parent or guardian of a homeless child or youth or unaccompanied 

youth may appeal the Board’s decision to the State Board of 

Education within twenty (20) days of receipt of the Board's written 

decision, in accordance with Section 10-186(b).  If necessary, the 

District Homeless Liaison shall assist a parent or guardian of a 

homeless child or youth or unaccompanied youth with filing the 

necessary appeal paperwork to the State Board of Education.  The 

homeless child or youth or unaccompanied youth shall remain in his 

or her school of origin pending resolution of the dispute, including 

all available appeals.   

October 8, 2019     Page 41



 

V. Services: 

 

A. Homeless children and youth shall be provided with services comparable to 

those offered other students in the selected school including:  

 

1. Title I services or similar state or local programs, educational 

programs for students with disabilities, programs for students with 

limited English proficiency, and preschool programs. 

 

2. Transportation services. 

 

3. Vocational and technical education. 

 

4. Programs for gifted and talented students. 

 

5. School nutrition programs. 

 

6. Before and after school programs. 

 

B.   The District shall coordinate with local social service agencies, other 

service providers, housing assistance providers and other school districts to 

ensure that homeless children and youth have access and reasonable 

proximity to available education and support services. 

 

VI. Transportation: 

 

A. The District shall provide transportation comparable to that available to 

other students. 

 

B. Transportation shall be provided, at a parent or guardian or unaccompanied 

youth’s request, to and from the school of origin for a homeless child or 

youth.  Transportation shall be provided for the entire time the child or 

youth is homeless and until the end of any academic year in which they 

move into permanent housing.  Transportation to the school of origin shall 

also be provided during pending disputes.  The Liaison shall request 

transportation to and from the school of origin for an unaccompanied youth.  

Parents and unaccompanied youth shall be informed of this right to 

transportation before they select a school for attendance. 

 

 C.  To comply with these requirements: 

  

1. Parents/guardians, schools, and liaisons shall use the district 

transportation form to process transportation requests.  

 

October 8, 2019     Page 42



2. If the homeless child or youth is living and attending school in this 

District, the District shall arrange transportation.  

 

3. If the homeless child or youth is living in this District but attending 

school in another, or attending school in this District and living in 

another, the District will follow the inter-district transportation 

agreement to determine the responsibility and costs for such 

transportation.  If there is no inter-district transportation agreement, 

the District shall confer with the other school district’s Homeless 

Liaison to determine an apportionment of the responsibility and 

costs. 

 

4. If no mutually agreeable arrangement can be reached, then the 

District shall: 

 

(a) Arrange transportation immediately;  

 

(b) Bring the matter to the attention of the State 

Coordinator for the Education of Homeless Children 

and Youth; and 

 

(c) Ensure that such disputes do not interfere with the 

homeless child or youth attending school.   

 

VII. Records 

 

An unaccompanied youth, as defined in section I.D., above, is entitled to 

knowledge of and access to all educational, medical, or similar records in the 

cumulative record of such unaccompanied youth maintained by this District.  

 

VII. Contact Information 

 

A. Local Contact:  for further information, contact: 

 

Assistant Superintendent for Pupil Personnel Services 

  203-341-1250 

 

B. State Contact:  for further information or technical assistance, contact: 

 

State Coordinator 

Connecticut Department of Education 

450 Columbus Boulevard 

Hartford, CT 06103 

(860) 807-2058 

 

Legal References:   

October 8, 2019     Page 43



State Law: 

Public Act 19-179, An Act Concerning Homeless Students’ 

Access to Education 

 

10-186 Duties of local and regional boards of education re 

school attendance. Hearings. Appeals to state board. 

Establishment of hearing board. Readmission. Transfers 

 

10-253 School privileges for children in certain placements, 

non-resident children and children in temporary shelters 

 

   Federal Law: 

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Education Assistance Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 11431 et seq., as amended by Every Student  

Succeeds Act, Pub. L. 114-95. 

 

 

Regulation adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

October 8, 2019     Page 44



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS 

UNDER CONNECTICUT GENERAL STATUTES SECTION 10-186 

 

(1) If any board of education denies such accommodations, the parent or guardian of 

any child who is denied schooling, or an emancipated minor, a pupil eighteen years of age 

or older or an unaccompanied youth who is denied schooling, or an agent or officer 

charged with the enforcement of the laws concerning attendance at school, may, in writing 

request a hearing by the board of education.  The board of education may 

(A) conduct the hearing, 

(B) designate a subcommittee of the board composed of three board members to 

conduct the hearing, or 

(C) establish a local impartial hearing board of one or more persons not 

members of the board of education to conduct the hearing. 

The board, subcommittee or local impartial hearing board shall give such person a hearing 

not later than ten days after receipt of the written request, make a stenographic record or 

tape recording of the hearing and make a finding not later than ten days after the hearing.  

Hearings shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of sections 4-176e to 4-

180a, inclusive, and section 4-181a.  Any child, emancipated minor, pupil eighteen years 

of age or older or unaccompanied youth who is denied accommodations on the basis of 

residency may continue in attendance in the school district at the request of the parent or 

guardian of such child or emancipated minor, pupil eighteen years of age or older or 

unaccompanied youth, pending a hearing pursuant to this subdivision.  The party claiming 

ineligibility for school accommodations shall have the burden of proving such ineligibility 

by a preponderance of the evidence, except in cases of denial of schooling based on 

residency, the party denied schooling shall have the burden of proving residency by a 

preponderance of the evidence, unless the party denied schooling is claiming that he or she 

is a homeless child or youth, as defined in 42 USC 11434a, as amended from time to time, 

in which case, the party claiming ineligibility based on residency shall have the burden of 

proving that the party denied schooling is not a homeless child or youth by a 

preponderance of the evidence in accordance with the provisions of 42 USC 11431, et seq., 

as amended from time to time. 

 

(2) Any homeless child or youth who is denied accommodations by a board of 

education as the result of a determination by such board, or a subcommittee of the board or 

local impartial hearing board, that the child is not entitled to school accommodations in the 

district, shall continue in attendance or be immediately enrolled in the school selected by 

the child in the school district pursuant to 42 USC 11432(g)(3), as amended from time to 

time.  The board of education for such school district shall (A) provide, in accordance with 

the provisions of 42 USC 11432(g)(3)(E)(ii), as amended from time to time, the homeless 

child or youth or the parent or guardian of such homeless child or youth with (i) a written 

explanation of the reasons for the denial of accommodations that is in a manner and form 

understandable to such homeless child or youth or parent or guardian, and (ii) information 

regarding the right to appeal the decision of the denial of accommodations pursuant to 

October 8, 2019     Page 45



 

 

subdivision (3) of this subsection, and (B) refer, in accordance with the provisions of 42 

USC 11432(g)(3)(E)(iii), as amended from time to time, the homeless child or youth or the 

parent or guardian of such homeless child or youth to the liaison, designated pursuant to 42 

USC 11432(g)(1)(J)(ii), as amended from time to time, who is responsible for carrying out 

the duties described in 42 USC 11432(g)(6)(A), as amended from time to time. 

 

(3) Any such parent, guardian, emancipated minor, pupil eighteen years of age or 

older, unaccompanied youth, or agent or officer, aggrieved by the finding shall, upon 

request, be provided with a transcript of the hearing within thirty days after such request 

and may take an appeal from the finding to the State Board of Education.  A copy of each 

notice of appeal shall be filed simultaneously with the local or regional board of education 

and the State Board of Education.  Any child, emancipated minor or pupil eighteen years 

of age or older or unaccompanied youth who is denied accommodations by a board of 

education as the result of a determination by such board, or a subcommittee of the board or 

local impartial hearing board, that the child is not a resident of the school district and 

therefore is not entitled to school accommodations in the district may continue in 

attendance in the school district at the request of the parent or guardian of such child or 

such minor or pupil, pending a determination of such appeal, except any homeless child or 

youth shall be entitled to continue in attendance in the school district during all available 

appeals pursuant to 42 USC 11432(g)(2)(E).  If an appeal is not taken to the State Board of 

Education within twenty days of the mailing of the finding to the aggrieved party, the 

decision of the board, subcommittee or local impartial hearing board shall be final.  The 

local or regional board of education shall, within ten days after receipt of notice of an 

appeal, forward the record of the hearing to the State Board of Education.  The State Board 

of Education shall, on receipt of a written request for a hearing made in accordance with 

the provisions of this subsection, establish an impartial hearing board of one or more 

persons to hold a public hearing in the local or regional school district in which the cause 

of the complaint arises.  Members of the hearing board may be employees of the state 

Department of Education or may be qualified persons from outside the department.  No 

member of the board of education under review nor any employee of such board of 

education shall be a member of the hearing board.  Members of the hearing board, other 

than those employed by the state of Connecticut, shall be paid reasonable fees and 

expenses as established by the State Board of Education within the limits of available 

appropriations.  Such hearing board may examine witnesses and shall maintain a verbatim 

record of all formal sessions of the hearing.  Either party to the hearing may request that 

the hearing board join all interested parties to the hearing, or the hearing board may join 

any interested party on its own motion.  The hearing board shall have no authority to make 

a determination of the rights and responsibilities of a board of education if such board is 

not a party to the hearing.  The hearing board may render a determination of actual 

residence of any child, emancipated minor, pupil eighteen years of age or older or 

unaccompanied youth where residency is at issue. 

 

 (4) The hearing board shall render its decision within forty-five days after receipt of 

the notice of appeal except that an extension may be granted by the Commissioner of 

Education upon an application by a party or the hearing board describing circumstances 

related to the hearing which require an extension. 

October 8, 2019     Page 46



 

 

 

 (5) If, after the hearing, the hearing board finds that any child is illegally or 

unreasonably denied schooling, the hearing board shall order the board of education under 

whose jurisdiction it has been found such child should be attending school to make 

arrangements to enable the child to attend public school.  Except in the case of a residency 

determination, the finding of the local or regional board of education, subcommittee of 

such board or a local impartial hearing board shall be upheld unless it is determined by the 

hearing board that the finding was arbitrary, capricious or unreasonable.  If such school 

officers fail to take action upon such order in any case in which such child is currently 

denied schooling and no suitable provision is made for such child within fifteen days after 

receipt of the order and in all other cases, within thirty days after receipt of the order, there 

shall be a forfeiture of the money appropriated by the state for the support of schools 

amounting to fifty dollars for each child for each day such child is denied schooling.  If the 

hearing board makes a determination that the child was not a resident of the school district 

and therefore not entitled to school accommodations from such district, the board of 

education may assess tuition against the parent or guardian of the child or the emancipated 

minor or pupil eighteen years of age or older based on the following:  One one-hundred-

eightieth of the town's net current local educational expenditure, as defined in section 10-

261, per pupil multiplied by the number of days of school attendance of the child in the 

district while not entitled to school accommodations provided by that district.  The local 

board of education may seek to recover the amount of the assessment through available 

civil remedies. 

October 8, 2019     Page 47



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

SAMPLE WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF ENROLLMENT DECISION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

[Month] __, 20__ 

 

 

VIA HAND DELIVERY AND U.S. MAIL 

 

[Insert Name of Parent or Unaccompanied Youth] 

[Insert Home Address] 

 

Re: Notification of Enrollment Decision 

 

Dear [Parent/Guardian or Unaccompanied Youth]: 

 

After reviewing your request to enroll the student(s) listed above [name(s)], the enrollment 

request is denied.  This determination is based upon the following factors: 

 

 [List factors]  

 

Under the McKinney-Vento Homeless Education Assistance Act, you have the right to 

appeal this decision by completing the form attached to this notice or by contacting the 

school district’s homeless education liaison: 

 

[Name of Liaison] 

[Title] 

[Telephone No.] 

 

 In addition, the student listed above has the right to immediately enroll in the 

school of choice pending resolution of the dispute.  You may provide written or verbal 

evidence to support your position.  You may seek the assistance of advocates or attorneys 

at your own expense; however, you may qualify for free legal services.  To inquire about 

free legal assistance, please call Statewide Legal Services at 1-800-453-3320.  You may 

also contact the state coordinator for homeless education: 

 

  State Coordinator 

  State Department of Education 

October 8, 2019     Page 48



 

 

  450 Columbus Boulevard  

  Hartford, CT 06103 

  (860) 807-2058 

  

A copy of the dispute resolution process under section 10-186 is attached to this notice. 

 

Please contact the District Liaison listed above if you have any questions.   

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

[Name] 

Superintendent of Schools 

 

 

cc: [Superintendent of Schools in which enrollment is sought, if appropriate] 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 49



 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

SAMPLE NOTIFICATION OF DECISION  

TO APPEAL EDUCATIONAL PLACEMENT 
 

This form is to be completed by the parent, guardian, caretaker, or unaccompanied youth 

when a dispute arises.  If you need assistance in preparing this form, you may meet with 

the District Liaison, __________________, who can be reached at _________________. 

 

Person completing form:  _______________________________ 

 

Relation to Student:   _______________________________ 

 

Contact Information:   _______________________________ 

 

    _______________________________ 

 

    _______________________________ 

 

I am requesting a Board of Education Hearing under Section 10-186 of the Connecticut 

General Statutes to appeal the enrollment decision made by [Name of District], [Name of 

School].  I have been provided with a written explanation of the District’s decision, contact 

information for the District’s homeless education liaison, and a copy of the Dispute 

Resolution Process under Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-186. 

 

__________________________________   ________________ 

Name        Date 

 

Optional.  You may also include a written explanation to support your appeal in the space 

below or provide your explanation verbally to the District Liaison. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 50



 

 

APPENDIX D 
 

SAMPLE NOTIFICATION OF HEARING 

REGARDING ENROLLMENT DISPUTE 

 

[Month] __, 20__ 

 

 

VIA HAND DELIVERY AND U.S. MAIL 

 

[Insert Name of Parent or Unaccompanied Youth] 

[Insert Home Address] 

 

Re: Educational Placement 

 

Dear [Name of Parent or Unaccompanied Youth]: 

 

You have requested a hearing before the [town] Board of Education regarding the 

educational placement of [insert name(s) of student(s)] at [name of school].  The [town] 

Board of Education will conduct a hearing regarding your claim on [date] at [time].  The 

hearing will be held at the offices of the [town] Board of Education, which are located at 

[insert address].   

 

The hearing will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Section 10-186 of the 

Connecticut General Statutes, a copy of which is enclosed.  The hearing will be conducted 

in executive session, and the Board of Education will make either a tape recording or a 

stenographic record of the hearing.  You may be represented by counsel or by an advocate, 

at your expense, if you so desire; however, you may qualify for free legal services.  To 

inquire about free legal assistance, please call Statewide Legal Services at 1-800-453-3320.   

 

Please contact the District Liaison, [insert name], if you have any questions.   

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

[Name] 

Superintendent of Schools 

 

 

cc: [Superintendent of Schools in which enrollment is sought, if appropriate] 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 51



 

 

APPENDIX E 
 

STUDENT RESIDENCY AFFIDAVIT 

[PARENT/GUARDIAN FORM] 

 

[Name of District] 

 

Name of student: ___________________   Birthdate: ___________ 

 

Name and Location of School Last Attended:  

 

I, _______________________ declare and affirm as follows: 

 

I am of legal age and believe in the obligations of an oath. 

 

I am the parent/legal guardian/caregiver of ________________ (name of student) who is 

of school age and is seeking admission to [School District]. 

 

Since ________(date), _______________ (name of student) has not had a permanent 

home.  He/she is currently staying at 

_____________________________________________ (may list multiple addresses, if 

applicable).  He/she has been staying there since ________ (date).   

 

This location is: 

   ___  a shelter 

   ___ a motel/hotel 

   ___ a campsite 

   ___ shared housing with other persons 

   ___ other _______________________________ 

 

If the location is shared housing with other persons, please specify the reason why the 

student is living in such housing:  

_________________________________________________________.    

 

Prior to staying at this location, the student was staying at 

_____________________________ 

From ________ (date) to _______ (date). 

 

I regularly receive my mail at: ________________________________________. 

I am currently staying at the following address(es): 

__________________________________, ____________________________, 

___________________________.  I plan to stay at this/these location(s) until:   _______ 

(date).  I can be reached at the following telephone number: _______________________.  

I can be reached for emergencies at: _______________. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 52



 

 

I authorize school district officials to contact _______________________ (case 

worker/shelter staff/other) at __________________ to obtain further information in order 

to verify the information contained in this affidavit and in order to coordinate necessary 

services for the student. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of Connecticut that the information 

provided is true and correct and of my own personal knowledge.  I understand that giving 

false or otherwise untrue information on this form could result in a criminal charge of 

perjury being brought against me. 

 

AFFIANT, 

 

   

Signature of Affiant 

 

   

Print Name of Affiant 

 

 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 

this ___  day of ___, 20__. 

 

__________________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

October 8, 2019     Page 53



 

 

APPENDIX F 
 

STUDENT RESIDENCY AFFIDAVIT 

[UNACCOMPANIED YOUTH FORM] 

 

 

Westport Public Schools 

 

Name of student: ___________________   Birthdate: ___________ 

 

Name and Location of School Last Attended: 

__________________________________________ 

 

I, _______________________ declare and affirm as follows: 

 

I, _______________________  am of school age and is seeking admission to the Westport 

Public Schools. 

 

Since ________(date), I, _______________________ have not had a permanent home.  I 

am currently staying at _____________________________________________ (may list 

multiple addresses, if applicable).  I have been staying there since ________ (date).   

 

This location is: 

   ___  a shelter 

   ___ a motel/hotel 

   ___ a campsite 

   ___ shared housing with other persons 

   ___ other _______________________________ 

 

If the location is shared housing with other persons, please specify the reason why the 

student is living in such housing:  

_________________________________________________________.    

 

Prior to staying at this location, I was staying at _____________________________ 

From ________ (date) to _______ (date). 

 

I regularly receive my mail at: ________________________________________. 

I am currently staying at the following address(es): 

__________________________________, ____________________________, 

___________________________.  I plan to stay at this/these location(s) until:   _______ 

(date).  I can be reached at the following telephone number: _______________________.  

I can be reached for emergencies at: _______________. 

 

I authorize school district officials to contact _______________________ (case 

worker/shelter staff/other) at __________________ to obtain further information in order 

October 8, 2019     Page 54



 

 

to verify the information contained in this affidavit and in order to coordinate necessary 

services for me. 

 

 

 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of Connecticut that the information 

provided is true and correct and of my own personal knowledge.  I understand that giving 

false or otherwise untrue information on this form could result in a criminal charge of 

perjury being brought against me. 

 

AFFIANT, 

 

   

Signature of Affiant 

 

   

Print Name of Affiant 

 

 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 

this ___  day of ___, 20__. 

 

__________________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

October 8, 2019     Page 55



 

 

APPENDIX G 

 

AFFIDAVIT FOR MISSING ENROLLMENT DOCUMENTATION 

[PARENT FORM] 

 

Westport Public Schools 

 

I, __________________, being duly sworn upon oath and based on my personal 

knowledge hereby state and affirm the following information regarding [name of 

student’s] missing enrollment documentation for the following: 

 

___ Proof of residency    ___ Immunization Record 

___ Proof of guardianship    ___ School Health Record 

___ Proof of identity    ___ School Records 

___ Birth Certificate 

 

I am of legal age and believe in the obligations of an oath. 

 

I am unable to present a copy of the document(s) requested above for the following 

reasons: 

 ________________________________________________________ 

 

 ________________________________________________________ 

 

The name and location of the last school the student attended is ____________________. 

 

I understand that I must obtain the necessary immunization and health records and 

provide a copy to the District.  I understand that the Homeless Liaison is available to 

assist me in obtaining any such immunization or health records.  The Homeless Liaison is 

_______________________ and can be reached at ___________________. 

  

AFFIANT, 

 

   

Signature of Affiant 

 

   

Print Name of Affiant 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 

this ___  day of ___, 20__. 

 

__________________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

October 8, 2019     Page 56



 

 

APPENDIX H 

 

AFFIDAVIT FOR MISSING ENROLLMENT DOCUMENTATION 

[UNACCOMPANIED YOUTH FORM] 

 

Westport Public Schools 

 

I, __________________, being duly sworn upon oath and based on my personal knowledge 

hereby state and affirm the following information regarding my missing enrollment 

documentation for the following: 

 

___ Proof of residency    ___ Immunization Record 

___ Proof of guardianship    ___ School Health Record 

___ Proof of identity    ___ School Records 

___ Birth Certificate 

 

I am unable to present a copy of the document(s) requested above for the following reasons: 

 

 ________________________________________________________ 

 

 ________________________________________________________ 

 

The name and location of the last school I attended is ___________________________. 

 

I understand that I must obtain the necessary immunization and health records and provide a 

copy to the District.  I understand that the Homeless Liaison is available to assist me in obtaining 

any such immunization or health records.  The Homeless Liaison is _______________________ 

and can be reached at ___________________. 

  

AFFIANT, 

 

   

Signature of Affiant 

 

 

   

Print Name of Affiant 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 

this ___  day of ___, 20__. 

 

__________________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 57





P5125.11 

Students 

 

Health/Medical Records 

 

When applicable, District schools will comply with the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) to maintain the privacy of protected health information that 

it receives, obtains, transmits or sends. The Board of Education designates the District’s Health 

Services Supervisor as its HIPAA Privacy Officer. 

 

Student education records, including personally identifiable health information, maintained by 

the District is subject to and protected by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 

(FERPA). Both the United States Department of Health and Human Services and the United 

States Department of Education Family Policy Compliance Office have stated that student 

records under FERPA are not subject to HIPAA. Therefore, District schools will comply with 

FERPA's confidentiality provisions rather than HIPAA's. 

 

The District will seek Medicaid eligibility information to determine if services to a student may 

be billed. Bills will be processed electronically for Medicaid reimbursement for qualified 

services to eligible special education students. The District will comply with HIPAA's electronic 

transactions requirements. Procedures and safeguards will be developed to protect the privacy of 

health information and prevent wrongful user and disclosure. At a minimum, the policy and 

procedure for student records will comply with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 

of 1974 (FERPA) with assurances that the District has obtained authorization from the parent or 

adult student prior to the release of protected health information for the purpose of Medicaid 

billing. Individuals involved in the Medicaid billing process for the District shall be trained on 

the privacy procedures. Discipline shall be imposed, up to and including discharge, for staff that 

wrongfully uses or discloses protected health information. 

 

 (cf. 5125 - Student Records; Confidentiality) 

 

Legal Reference: Connecticut General Statutes 

 

1- 19(b)(11) Access to public records. Exempt records. 

2-  

10- 15b Access of parent or guardians to student's records. 

 

10- 154a Professional communications between teacher or nurse & student. 

 

10- 209 Records not to be public 

 

46b-56 (e) Access to Records of Minors. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 58



Connecticut Public Records Administration Schedule V Disposition of Education 

Records (Revised 1983). 

 

Federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (section 438 of the General 

Education Provisions Act, as amended, added by section 513 of P.L. 93 568, codified at 

20 U.S.C.1232g.). 

 

Dept. of Educ. 34 C.F.R. Part 99 (May 9, 1980 45 FR 30802) regs. implementing FERPA 

enacted as part of 438 of General Educ. provisions act (20 U.S.C. 1232g) parent and 

student privacy and other rights with respect to educational records, as amended 

11/21/96. 

 

USA Patriot Act of 2001, PL 107-56, 115 Stat. 272, Sec 507, 18 U.S.C. §2332b(g)(5)(B) 

and 2331 

 

42 U.S.C. 1320d-1320d-8, P.L. 104-191, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability 

Act of 1996 (HIPAA) 

 

65 Fed. Reg. 50312-50372 

 

65 Fed. Reg. 92462-82829 

 

63 Fed. Reg. 43242-43280 

 

67 Fed. Reg. 53182-53273 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 59



P5131.7 

Students 

 

WEAPONS AND DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Board of Education determines that possession, concealment, and/or use of a weapon by a 

student is detrimental to the welfare and safety of the students and school personnel within the 

district. Possession and/or use of any dangerous or deadly weapon, firearm, or destructive device 

in any school building, on school grounds, in any school vehicle, or at any school-sponsored 

activity is prohibited even if the person possessing the deadly weapon or firearm has a permit for 

such item. 

  

I.          Definitions: 

  

A.     Dangerous Instrument means any instrument, article or substance which, under the 

circumstances in which it is used or attempted or threatened to be used, is capable of 

causing death or serious physical injury, and includes a "vehicle" or a dog that has been 

commanded to attack. 

 

B.      Deadly Weapon means any weapon, whether loaded or unloaded, from which a 

shot may be discharged, or a switchblade knife, gravity knife, billy, blackjack, bludgeon 

or metal knuckles.  A weapon such as a pellet gun and/or air soft pistol may constitute a 

deadly weapon if such weapon is designed for violence and is capable of inflicting death 

or serious bodily harm.  In making such determination, the following factors should be 

considered:  design of weapon; how weapon is typically used (e.g. hunting); type of 

projectile; force and velocity of discharge; method of discharge (i.e. spring v. CO2 

cartridge) and potential for serious bodily harm or death.     

 

C.              Electronic Defense Weapon means a weapon which by electronic impulse or 

current is capable of immobilizing a person temporarily, but is not capable of inflicting 

death or serious physical injury, including a stun gun or other conductive energy device. 

 

D.              Firearm, as defined in 18 U.S.C § 921, means (a) any weapon (including a 

starter gun) that will, is designed to, or may be readily converted to expel a projectile by 

the action of an explosive, (b) the frame or receiver of any such weapon, (c) a firearm 

muffler or silencer, or (d) any destructive device.  The term firearm does not include an 

antique firearm.  As used in this definition, a "destructive device" includes any explosive, 

incendiary, or poisonous gas device, including a bomb, a grenade, a rocket having a 

propellant charge of more than four ounces, a missile having an explosive or incendiary 

charge of more than one-quarter ounce, a mine, or any other similar device; or any 

weapon (other than a shotgun or shotgun shell particularly suited for sporting purposes) 

that will, or may be readily converted to, expel a projectile by explosive or other 

propellant, and which has a barrel with a bore of more than ½" in diameter.  The term 

October 8, 2019     Page 60



"destructive device" also includes any combination of parts either designed or intended 

for use in converting any device into any destructive device or any device from which a 

destructive device may be readily assembled.  A “destructive device” does not include: an 

antique firearm; a rifle intended to be used by the owner solely for sporting, recreational, 

or cultural purposes; or any device which is neither designed nor redesigned for use as a 

weapon.   

 

E.              Martial Arts Weapon means a nunchaku, kama, kasari-fundo, octagon sai, 

tonfa or Chinese star. 

 

F.               School-Sponsored Activity "means any activity sponsored, recognized or 

authorized by a board of education and includes activities conducted on or off school 

property."  Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-233a(h). 

 

G.              Weapon means any BB gun, any blackjack, any metal or brass knuckles, any 

police baton or nightstick, any dirk knife or switch knife, any knife having an automatic 

spring release devise by which a blade is released from the handle, having a blade of over 

one and one-half inches in length, any stiletto, any knife the edged portion of the blade of 

which is four inches and over in length, any martial arts weapon or electronic defense 

weapon, or any other dangerous or deadly weapon or instrument, unless permitted by law 

under Section 29-38 of the Connecticut General Statutes.   

 

II.        Consequences 

 

A.              A student who possesses and/or uses any deadly weapon or firearm on school 

property in violation of this policy shall be disciplined in accordance with Board of 

Education Student Discipline Policy. 

 

 

Legal References: 

            Connecticut General Statutes § 10-233a,   

                                                            § 10-244a 

                                                            § 29-28(e), 

                                                            § 53a-3,3 

                                                            § 53a-217b 

 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 61



P5125.11 

Students 

 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND STUDENT DISCIPLINE 

 

It is the policy of the Board to promote the health and well-being of district students by 

encouraging healthy lifestyles including promoting physical exercise and activity as part of the 

school day.  

 

Prohibition on Deprivation of Physical Exercise Period as a Form of Discipline: 

 

For elementary school students, the Board includes a time of not less than twenty (20) minutes in 

total, during the regular school day, to be devoted to physical exercise, except that a planning 

and placement team (“PPT”) may develop a different schedule for students requiring special 

education and related services. 

 

In an effort to promote physical exercise, the Board prohibits school employees from disciplining 

elementary school students by preventing them from participating in the full 20 minutes of time 

devoted to physical exercise during the regular school day, except in instances where the 

student’s behavior poses a health and/or safety concern. 

 

Prohibition on Compulsion of Physical Activity as a Form of Discipline: 

 

For all students, the Board prohibits school employees from disciplining students by requiring 

students to engage in physical activity as a form of discipline during the regular school day. 

 

Definition: 

 

For the purposes of this policy, a “school employee” is defined as (1) a teacher, substitute 

teacher, school administrator, school superintendent, guidance counselor, psychologist, social 

worker, nurse, physician, school paraprofessional or coach employed by the Board or working in 

the district schools, or (2) any other individual who, in the performance of his or her duties, has 

regular contact with students and who provides services to or on behalf of students enrolled in 

the district schools pursuant to a contract with the Board.   

 

Disciplinary Action for Failure to Follow Policy:  

 

Any employee who fails to comply with the requirements of this policy may be subject to 

discipline, up to and including termination of employment.  Any contracted individual who 

provides services to or on behalf of students enrolled in the district and who fails to comply with 

the requirements of this policy may be subject to having his/her contract for services suspended 

by the district. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 62



 

 

Legal References: 

 

Connecticut General Statutes:  

 

 § 10-221o   Lunch periods.  Recess. Boards to adopt policies addressing the 

limitations of physical exercise  

 

 § 10-221u Boards to adopt policies addressing the use of physical activity as 

discipline 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 63



P5125.11 

Students 

 

Exploitation: Sexual Harassment 

 

Sexual Abuse Prevention and Education Program 

Definitions 

 

Sexual violence is a multi-layered oppression that occurs at the societal and individual level and 

is connected to and influenced by other forms of oppression, in particular, sexism, racism and 

heterosexism. On the societal level, it is the preponderance of attitudes, actions, social norms that 

perpetuate and sustain environments and behaviors that promote a cultural tolerance, acceptance, 

and denial of sexual assault and abuse. On an individual level, sexual violence is a wide range of 

sexual acts and behaviors that are unwanted, coerced, committed without consent, or forced 

either by physical means or through threats. 

 

Sexual abuse refers to coerced or forced sexual contact or activity that may be ongoing or occurs 

over time, often within a trusting relationship. Most victims know their perpetrators. Perpetrators 

are usually older than their victims and may trick or force them into gradually doing the sexual 

behavior. The sexual behavior may not be violent and may even be pleasurable to the child, who 

doesn't necessarily know it is wrong. Perpetrators of ongoing sexual abuse control the 

child/youth through secrecy, shame, or threats. Children cannot consent to sexual contact with 

adults or older youth, and sexual contact is considered abuse, regardless of whether it includes 

touching or not. 

 

Sexual assault usually refers to forced or unwanted sexual contact or activity that occurs as a 

single incident, as opposed to ongoing sexual abuse that may continue over time. It may also 

involve verbal or visual behaviors, or any type of pressure designed to coerce or force someone 

to join in the unwanted sexual contact or activity. The assault may involve a similar range of 

behaviors that are attempted or perpetrated against a victim's will or when a victim cannot 

consent because of age, disability, or the influence of alcohol or drugs. Sexual assault may 

involve actual or threatened physical force, use of weapons, coercion, intimidation or pressure. 

The offender usually takes advantage of the victim's vulnerability. Anyone can perpetrate this 

type of abuse - a trusted friend or family member, a stranger, a casual acquaintance, or an 

intimate partner. 

 

Program 

 

The Westport Public Schools shall implement the Sexual Abuse and Assault Awareness and 

Prevention Program identified or developed, in compliance with CGS 17a-101q, by the 

Department of Children and Families, in collaboration with the Department of Education and 

other assisting entities, with the goal of informing students and staff about child sexual abuse and 

assault awareness and available resources. The District's implementation of the Sexual Abuse 

October 8, 2019     Page 64



and Assault Awareness and Prevention Program, per statute, shall be not later than October 1, 

2016. The program, for students in Grades K-12, inclusive, shall include, but not be limited to: 

 

1. Providing teachers instructional modules that may include, but not be limited to: 

 

a. Training regarding the prevention and identification of, and response to, child sexual 

abuse and assault, and 

 

b. Resources to further student, teacher and parental awareness regarding child sexual 

abuse and the prevention of such abuse and assault. 

 

2. Providing students age-appropriate educational materials designed for children in grades 

kindergarten to twelve, inclusive, regarding child sexual abuse and assault awareness and 

prevention that may include, but not be limited to: 

 

a.  The skills to recognize: 

 

i. Child sexual abuse and assault, 

 

ii. Boundary violations and unwanted forms of touching and contact, and 

 

iii. Ways offenders groom or desensitize victims. 

 

b.  Strategies to promote disclosure, reduce self-blame and mobilize bystanders. 

 

c.  Actions that child victims of sexual abuse and assault may take to obtain assistance. 

 

d.  Intervention and counseling options for child victims of sexual abuse and assault. 

 

e.  Access to educational resources to enable child victims of sexual abuse and assault to 

succeed in school. 

 

f.  Uniform procedures for reporting instances of child sexual abuse and assault to 

school staff members. 

The lessons should be evidence-informed, developmentally and age appropriate and informed by 

the required curricula standards and performance indicators contained in the SDE Guidelines 

(Section Three). 

 

3. Implementing a child sexual abuse curriculum to provide age-appropriate information to teach 

students the difference between appropriate and inappropriate conduct in situations where child 

sexual abuse or sexual assault could occur, and to identify actions a child may take to prevent 

and report sexual abuse or sexual assault. Students will be: 

 

a.  Provided with resources and referrals to handle these potentially dangerous situations. 

 

b.  Provided access to available counseling and educational support. 

October 8, 2019     Page 65



The Board of Education directs the Superintendent develop administrative regulations to address 

the issues of students obtaining assistance, intervention and counseling options, access to 

educational resources and procedures for reporting instances of child sexual abuse and assault. 

A student shall be excused from participating in the sexual abuse, assault awareness and 

prevention program offered within the school, in its entirety or any part thereof, upon receipt by 

the Principal or his/her designee, of a written request from the student's parent/guardian. 

 

Any student exempted from the sexual abuse and assault awareness and prevention program 

shall be provided, during the period of time in which the student would otherwise be 

participating in such program, an opportunity for other study or academic work. 

 

Reporting Child Sexual Abuse and Assault 

 

Students shall be encouraged to disclose abuse to a trusted adult member of the staff, including, 

but not limited to, teachers, administrators, nurses, coaches, and counselors. Child abuse 

reporting procedures will be followed for all acts of violence and sexual abuse against children 

as delineated in policy #5141.4, "Reporting of Suspected Child Abuse," and its 

accompanying regulations. 

 

Connecticut General Statutes §17a-101, as amended, requires all school employees including the 

Superintendent of Schools, school teachers, substitute teachers, administrators, school guidance 

counselors, school paraprofessionals, licensed nurses, physicians, psychologists, social workers, 

coaches of intramural or interscholastic athletics, or any other person, who in the performance of 

his/her duties, has regular contact with students and who provides services to District students, 

who have reasonable cause to suspect or believe that a child has been abused, neglected, or 

placed in imminent risk of serious harm to report such abuse and/or neglect in compliance with 

applicable state statutes. 

 

An oral report by telephone or in person shall be made as soon as possible but no later than 12 

hours to the Commissioner of Children and Families and to the Superintendent of Schools or 

his/her designee followed within 48 hours by a written report to the Department of Children and 

Families. 

 

Reporting suspected abuse and/or neglect of children, in addition to the requirements pertaining 

to staff training, record keeping and dissemination of this policy, shall be in accordance with the 

procedures established and set forth in the Administrative Regulation #5141.4. 

 

(cf. 5131.911 - Bullying) 

 

(cf. 5141.4 - Reporting of Suspected Child Abuse) 

 

(cf. 5145.5 - Sexual Harassment) 

 

Legal Reference: Connecticut General Statutes 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 66



17a-101q Statewide sexual abuse and assault awareness and prevention program (as 

amended by Section 415 of the June 2015 Special Session Public Act 15-5) 

 

A Statewide K-12 Sexual Assault and Abuse Prevention and Awareness Program 

developed by DCF, SDE, and Connecticut Alliance (The Alliance) to End Sexual 

Violence. 

 

Regulation adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

  

October 8, 2019     Page 67



R5145.511 

Students 

 

Exploitation: Sexual Harassment 

 

Sexual Abuse Prevention and Education Program 

 

Prevention Strategy 

 

Schools will design and build their capacity to implement comprehensive prevention strategies 

that engage students, parents/guardians/caregivers and school personnel. By engaging each of 

these populations, schools can reduce and prevent abusive sexual behaviors and sexual assault 

from occurring and create a climate that promotes positive peer relationships. 

 

Students 

 

1. Strengthen students' knowledge, attitudes and skills for healthy relationships by 

implementation of the DCF/SDE sexual abuse and assault awareness and prevention program. 

 

2. Strengthen students' skills for modeling pro-social behavior and intervening as proactive 

bystander for the prevention and intervention of abusive behavior and/or sexual assault on 

campus. 

 

3. Increase awareness among students of students' rights under District policy including how to 

report and seek help for students who may have experienced sexual abuse or sexual assault. 

 

Parents/Caregivers and School Personnel 

 

1. Strengthen parents/guardians/caregivers' knowledge, attitudes and skills for promoting healthy 

relationships including positive bystander behavior through workshops, school newsletter, and 

other events. 

 

2. Strengthen school personnel's (administrators, teachers, coaches, and others) knowledge, 

attitudes and skills for promoting healthy relationships including modeling pro-social behavior or 

positive bystander behavior through professional development, utilizing the DCF/SDE developed 

instructional modules. 

 

3. Increase awareness among parents of students' rights under District policy including how to 

report and seek help for students who may have experienced sexual abuse or assault. 

 

4. Increase awareness among school personnel of District policy including their responsibility to 

report incidents and concerns regarding sexual abuse and sexual assault. 

 

5. Increase awareness among parents/caregivers and school personnel of school and community-

based resources for students and families. 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 68



School Climate 

 

1. Strengthen positive school climate by engaging students in age-appropriate activities to 

promote healthy relationships and positive bystander behavior. 

 

2. Reduce risk for sexual abuse and sexual assault by educating school personnel on how to 

support healthy relationships, implement prevention curricula, and respond effectively to 

incidents and disclosures. 

 

Reporting Procedure 

 

Students should be encouraged to disclose if they have been sexually abused to any member of 

the staff whom they trust. The Principal of each school shall establish and prominently publicize 

to students, staff, volunteers, and parents/guardians, how a report of sexual abuse and assault 

may be filed either in-person or anonymously and how this report will be acted upon. The victim 

of sexual abuse and assault or anyone who witnessed an act of sexual abuse or assault, and 

anyone who has reasonable suspicion that an act of sexual abuse or assault has taken place may 

file a report. 

 

In addition, members of the staff, as a result of training, should be aware of the signs of child 

sexual abuse in students which can include, but are not limited to, expressions of shame, 

guilt/self-blame, difficulty trusting others, low self-esteem, cognitive deficits, depression, mental 

health problems, poor school performance, unhealthy relationships, self-harm, substance abuse 

and thoughts or expressions of suicide. 

 

A report must be made when any mandated reporter of the Board of Education, in his/her 

professional capacity, has reasonable cause to suspect or to believe that a child under the age of 

eighteen (Mandated reporters include all school employees, the Superintendent, administrators, 

teachers, substitute teachers, guidance counselors, school paraprofessionals, coaches of 

intramural and interscholastic athletics, as well as licensed nurses, physicians, psychologists 

and social workers either employed by the Board or working in one of the District schools, or 

any other person who, in the performance of his or her duties, has regular contact with students 

and who provides services to or on behalf of students enrolled in District schools) is in danger of 

being or has been sexually abused or assaulted. 

 

Any written or oral reporting of an act of sexual abuse or assault shall be considered an official 

means of reporting such act(s). 

 

The following procedures apply only to statutory mandated reporters, as defined above. 

 

1. When an employee of the Board of Education suspects or believes that a child has been 

sexually abused or sexually assaulted, the following steps shall be taken: 

 

a.  The employee shall immediately, upon having reasonable cause to suspect or believe 

that a child has been abused, and in no case later than twelve (12) hours after having 

such a suspicion or belief, make an oral report by telephone or in person to the 

October 8, 2019     Page 69



Commissioner of Children and Families or the local law enforcement agency. The 

Department of Children and Families has established a 24 hour Child Abuse and 

Neglect Hotline at 1-800-842-2288 for the purpose of making such oral reports. 

 

b.  The employee shall also immediately make an oral report to the Building Principal or 

his/her designee and/or the Superintendent or his/her designee. 

 

c.  If a report concerns suspected abuse by a school employee, the Superintendent or 

his/her designee, shall immediately notify the child's parent or guardian that such a 

report has been made. 

 

d.  Not later than 48 hours of making an oral report, the employee shall submit a written 

report to the Commissioner of Children and Families, or his/her representative, 

containing all of the required information. 

 

e. The employee shall immediately, submit a copy of the written report to the Principal 

and/or Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee. 

 

f.  If a report concerns suspected sexual abuse by a school employee who possesses a 

certificate, permit or authorization issued by the State Board of Education, the 

Superintendent shall submit a copy of the written report to the Commissioner of 

Education, or his/her representative. 

 

Contents of Reports 

 

Any report made pursuant to this policy shall contain the following information, if known: 

 

1. The names and addresses of the child and his/her parents or other persons responsible for 

his/her care; 

 

2. The age of the child; 

 

3. The gender of the child; 

 

4. The nature and the extent of the child's sexual abuse or assault; 

 

5. The approximate date and time the sexual abuse or assault occurred; 

 

6. Information concerning any previous injury or injuries to, or maltreatment or neglect of, the 

child or his/her siblings; 

 

7. The circumstances in which sexual abuse or assault came to be known to the reporter; 

 

8. The name of the person or persons suspected to be responsible for causing the sexual abuse or 

assault; 

October 8, 2019     Page 70



 

9. The reasons such person or persons are suspected of causing such sexual abuse; 

 

10. Any information concerning any prior cases in which such person or persons have been 

suspected of causing an injury, maltreatment or neglect of a child; and 

 

11. Whatever action, if any, was taken to treat, provide shelter or otherwise assist, the child. 

 

Investigation of the Report 

 

If the suspected abuser is a school employee, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall 

thoroughly investigate the report, provided that such investigation does not interfere with or 

impede the investigation by the Department of Children and Families or by a law enforcement 

agency. To the extent feasible, this investigation shall be coordinated with the Commissioner of 

Children and Families and/or the police in order to minimize the number of interviews of any 

child and to share information with other persons authorized to conduct an investigation of child 

abuse and neglect. When investigating a report, the Superintendent or his/her designee shall 

endeavor to obtain, when possible, the consent of parents or guardians or other persons 

responsible for the care of the child, to interview the child, except in those cases in which there is 

reason to believe that the parents or guardians or other persons responsible for the care of such 

child are the perpetrators or the alleged abusers. 

 

The investigation shall include an opportunity for the suspected abuser to be heard with respect 

to the allegations contained within the report. During the course of an investigation of suspected 

abuse by a school employee, the Superintendent may suspend the employee with pay or may 

place the employee on administrative leave with pay pending the outcome of the investigation. 

 

A person reporting child sexual abuse shall provide any person authorized to conduct an 

investigation into such claim with all information related to the investigation that is in the 

possession or control of the person reporting child sexual abuse except as expressly prohibited by 

state or federal law. 

 

Evidence of Abuse by Certain School Employees 

 

After an investigation has been completed, if the Commissioner of Children and Families, based 

upon the results of such investigation, has reasonable cause to believe that a child has been 

sexually abused or assaulted by an employee who has been entrusted with the care of a child or 

has recommended that such employee be placed on the Department of Children and Families 

Abuse and Neglect Registry, the Commissioner shall notify within five (5) working days after 

the completion of the investigation into child abuse or neglect by a school employee, the 

Superintendent and the Commissioner of Education of such finding and shall provide records, 

whether or not created by the Department of Children and Families, concerning such 

investigation to the Superintendent and the Commissioner of Education. The Superintendent 

shall suspend the employee, if not previously suspended, with pay and without diminution or 

termination of benefits if DCF has reasonable cause that the employee sexually abused a child 

October 8, 2019     Page 71



and recommends the employee be placed on the DCF Child Abuse and Neglect Registry. Not 

later than 72 hours after such suspension, the Superintendent shall notify the Board of 

Education and the Commissioner of Education, or his/her representative, of the reasons for the 

conditions of suspension. The Superintendent shall disclose records received from the 

Department of Children and Families to the Commissioner of Education and the Board of 

Education, or its attorney, for the purposes of review of employment status, certification, permit 

or authorization. Any decision of the Superintendent concerning such suspension shall remain in 

effect until the Board of Education Acts, pursuant to the provisions of Connecticut General 

Statutes. The Commissioner of Education shall also be notified if such certified person resigns 

from his/her employment in the District. Regardless of the outcome of any investigation by DCF 

and/or the police, the Superintendent and/or the Board, as appropriate, may take disciplinary 

action up to and including termination of employment in accordance with the provisions of any 

applicable statute, if the Superintendent's investigation produces evidence that a child has been 

sexually abused by a certified, permit or authorized school staff member. 

 

If the contract of employment of a certified school employee holding a certificate, permit or 

authorization issued by the State Board of Education is terminated as a result of an investigation 

into reports of child sexual abuse, the Superintendent shall notify the Commissioner of 

Education, or his/her representative, within 72 hours of such termination.\ 

 

Evidence of Abuse by Other School Staff 

 

If the investigation by the Superintendent and/or Commissioner of Children and Families did 

produce evidence that a child has been sexually abused by a non-certified school staff member 

the Superintendent and/or the Board, as appropriate, may take disciplinary action up to and 

including termination of employment. 

 

The District shall maintain records of allegations, investigations and reports that a child has been 

sexually abused or assaulted by a school employee. Such records will be maintained in the 

District's Central Office. The records shall include any reports made to the Department of 

Children and Families. The State Department of Education is to have access to all such records. 

 

The Board shall provide to the Commissioner of Children and Families, upon request for the 

purposes of an investigation by the Commissioner of Children and Families of suspected child 

sexual abuse by a teacher employed by the Board, any records maintained or kept in District 

files. Such records shall include, but not be limited to, supervisory records, reports of 

competence, personal character and efficiency maintained in such teacher's personnel file with 

reference to evaluation of performance as a professional employee of such Board of Education, 

and records of the personal misconduct of such teacher. ("Teacher" includes each certified 

professional employee below the rank of Superintendent employed by a Board of 

Education in a position requiring a certificate issued by the State Board of Education.) 

 

The Board of Education shall permit and give priority to any investigation conducted by the 

Commissioner of Children and Families or the appropriate local law enforcement agency that a 

child has been sexually abused or assaulted. The Board shall conduct its own investigation and 

take any disciplinary action, in accordance with the provisions of section 17a-101i of the general 

October 8, 2019     Page 72



statutes, as amended, upon notice from the Commissioner or the appropriate local law 

enforcement agency that the Board's investigation will not interfere with the investigation of the 

Commissioner or such local law enforcement agency. 

 

The Department of Children and Families will review, at least annually, with the State 

Department of Education all records and information relating to reports and investigations that a 

child has been sexually abused by a school employee, in the Department of Children and 

Families' possession to ensure that records and information are being shared properly. 

 

The Superintendent may appoint a designee for the purposes of receiving and making reports, 

notifying and receiving notification, or investigating reports pursuant to this policy. 

 

Disciplinary Action for Failure to Follow Policy 

 

Any employee who fails to comply with the requirements of this policy and these regulations 

shall be subject to discipline, up to and including termination of employment. 

 

Response to Sexual Abuse and Sexual Assault 

 

Schools will develop and implement an effective and consistent response to sexual abuse or 

sexual assault that takes place on school grounds, while traveling to and from school or a school-

sponsored activity, whether on or off campus, as well as abusive behavior expressed through 

technology using District or school-provided computers, email addresses, or servers. 

 

Students and parents/guardians are to be informed of the District's policy regarding sexual abuse 

and sexual assault. 

 

Students are to be encouraged to contact the Principal or his/her designee or other school 

personnel if they or another student has been sexually abused or sexually assaulted. Students will 

also be encouraged to report to school authorities if they are aware that another student or adult 

individual has committed sexual abuse or sexual assault. 

 

Support Services 

 

The Principal or designee will first take steps to increase safety and well-being of the student 

experiencing sexual abuse and/or sexual assault. This might include offering individual or 

support group counseling for the student experiencing abuse and/or sexual assault at school or by 

referring the student to a local victim service organization. 

 

Protection Against Retaliation 

 

No retaliation will be taken by the District or by any of its employees or students against any 

complainant or any participant in the complaint process, including witnesses, and will take steps 

to ensure there is no retaliation against any involved party, and will respond appropriately to any 

incident of retaliation. Any person found to have retaliated against another individual for 

reporting an incident of sexual abuse, harassment or assault will be subjected to the same 

October 8, 2019     Page 73



disciplinary action created in accordance with this policy. Those persons who assist or participate 

in an investigation of abusive behavior are also protected from retaliation under this policy. 

 

Confidentiality 

 

Any investigation that takes place pursuant to this policy and administrative regulation will, to 

the maximum extent possible, be conducted in a manner that protects the privacy of the student 

experiencing sexual abuse and/or sexual assault, complainant, and accused. However, if it is 

suspected that child abuse has occurred or any law has been violated, such abuse will be reported 

to the proper authorities. When possible students will be notified and reminded of limits of 

confidentiality and be made aware of possible reports to outside officials. Notification of the 

outcome of the investigation will be made in accordance with relevant state and federal law. 

 

Preclusion 

 

This policy should not be interpreted as preventing a student experiencing sexual abuse and/or 

sexual assault from seeking redress under any other available law, either civil or criminal. 

The District will keep and maintain a confidential written record, including but not limited to, 

witness statements, investigative reports, and correspondence, from the date any allegation of 

abusive sexual behavior or sexual assault is reported to District personnel. The information in the 

written record will include the action taken by the District in response to each allegation. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities 

 

The District will: 

 

1. Ensure that the Superintendent or his/her designee is the individual responsible for 

implementation of the policy and these procedures and for the provision of technical 

assistance and training for school personnel on the development and implementation of the 

steps for a comprehensive prevention strategy and effective and consistent intervention and 

response to incidents of sexual abuse and sexual assault. 

 

2. Assure students of their rights to be free from sexual abuse and sexual assault including 

cyber-harassment; 

 

3. Ensure that students know that sexual abuse and sexual assault violate District policy; that 

abusive behavior should be reported; and that violators will be subject to disciplinary and/or 

legal action; 

 

4. Expect all personnel to intervene directly or to contact police when necessary, whenever they 

witness or become aware of an incident of sexual abuse or sexual assault. There is a duty to 

report to the Principal or his/her designee when any staff member knows or reasonably 

should have known of an incident of sexual abuse or sexual assault. Any staff member who 

permits or fails to report an incident of sexual abuse or sexual assault may be subject to 

disciplinary action. 

The School will: 

October 8, 2019     Page 74



 

1. Staffing and Notification 

 

a.  The Principal or his/her designee is responsible for implementation of the policy, 

administrative regulations, the provision of technical assistance and training for 

school personnel on sexual abuse and sexual assault and effective and consistent 

intervention and response to incidents of such behavior; 

 

b.  Review policy and procedures on sexual abuse and sexual assault annually with all 

staff and provide recommendations and/or revisions to the policy and regulations; 

 

c.  Ensure that all staff, students, and parents/caregivers receive the name and contact 

information at the school and District level, a summary of prohibited behaviors and a 

summary of this policy at the beginning of the school year, as part of the student 

handbook and/or information packet, as part of the new student orientation, and as 

part of the school system's notification to parents; 

 

d.  Create easy public access to the full text of this policy via the school website(s), staff 

and student handbooks with complaint forms, District policy manuals, contact 

information etc.; and 

 

e.  Review policy and procedures on sexual abuse and sexual assault annually with all 

staff and provide recommendations and/or revisions to the policy. 

2. Prevention 

 

a.  Engage students, as developmentally appropriate, and school personnel and, if 

possible, community-based organizations to collaborate on the development and 

implementation of comprehensive prevention strategies; 

 

b.  Strengthen students' knowledge, attitudes and skills for healthy relationships, social 

and emotional learning, and pro-social behavior, such as positive bystander 

behavior through evidence-based or evidence-informed curricula, lesson plans, or 

other classroom or school-wide activities; 

 

c.  Strengthen parents/caregivers' knowledge, attitudes and skills for promoting healthy 

relationships, social and emotional learning, such as positive bystander behavior 

through workshops, school newsletter, and other events; 

 

d.  Strengthen school personnel knowledge, attitudes and skills for promoting healthy 

relationships and social and emotional learning, such as positive bystander behavior 

through professional development; 

 

e.  Strengthen positive school climate through positive social norm youth-developed 

campaigns or activities to promote healthy relationships, social and emotional 

learning, and/or positive bystander behavior; and 

October 8, 2019     Page 75



f.  Assure students of their rights to be free from sexual abuse and sexual assault 

including cyber-harassment and that students know that sexual abuse and sexual 

assault violate District policy and law; that abusive behavior should be reported; 

and that violators will be subject to disciplinary action and/or legal action. 

 

3. Intervention and Response 

 

a.  All school personnel are expected to utilize the reporting procedure previously 

described in this regulation or to contact police directly, when necessary, whenever 

they witness or become aware of an incident of sexual abuse or sexual assault. 

There is a duty to report to the Principal or Principal's designee when any staff 

member knows or reasonably should have known of an incident of sexual abuse or 

sexual assault. 

 

b.  Staff members must intervene or make a report when they witness, become aware 

of, or reasonably should have known of an incident of sexual abuse or sexual 

assault on the campus; while traveling to and from school or a school sponsored 

activity; whether on or off campus; or perpetrated using school-owned property 

such as email addresses and servers. 

 

c.  Each incident reported will be promptly investigated in a manner prescribed by 

statute that protects the student experiencing abuse and/or sexual assault. 

 

d.  The school will make all efforts to keep a report of sexual abuse or sexual assault 

and the results of any investigation confidential to the extent permitted by law, 

except that the abused child and the accused will be notified of the outcome of an 

investigation consistent with federal and state laws. 

 

e.  Increase students' safety and well-being by assisting student experiencing sexual 

abuse and/or sexual assaults in accessing legal protection. 

 

f.  Support a student experiencing abuse and/or sexual assaults by offering individual 

counseling, support groups, and/or referrals to local victim service providers who 

serve minors. Establish a relationship with a local domestic or sexual violence 

program and/or health care providers experienced with sexual abuse and/or sexual 

assault for access to resources and training; 

 

Providing Instruction 

 

The instructional staff of District schools, subject to the rules of the State Board of Education 

and the Board of Education, shall teach all statutorily required comprehensive health components 

including a health education curriculum for students in grades K through 12 in the area of sexual 

abuse or assault. This instruction shall include teen dating violence, a sexual abuse and assault 

component that includes, but is not limited to, the definition of dating violence, sexual abuse, 

sexual assault, the warning signs of abusive behavior, the characteristics of healthy relationships, 

October 8, 2019     Page 76



measures to prevent and stop dating violence, sexual abuse, sexual assault, and community 

resources available to victims of dating violence, sexual abuse and assault. 

 

 

 

 

Regulation adopted:   WESTPORT PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

  Westport, Connecticut 

 

October 8, 2019     Page 77



(6)           Students will recognize the importance of physical, mental and emotional
health.
To that end students will:

● Develop skills necessary to perform a variety of physical activities
● Participate regularly in practices and activities to help achieve and
maintain physical, mental and emotional well being
● Know how to cope, reduce tension and look for support

 
Evidenced in freshman, sophomore and junior PE and Health.

 
(7)         Students will demonstrate awareness and a critical understanding of

aesthetics.
 To that end students will:

● Demonstrate the ability to work in an artistic medium
● Demonstrate an understanding of the elements of the creative process
● Demonstrate knowledge of the historical and cultural contexts in which art
is created
● Demonstrate an openness to the aesthetic experience
● Demonstrate a knowledge of artists and their works

 
Evidenced in English 1 and Global Themes or any Fine Arts course.

Students may demonstrate proficiency in the basic skills described above by achieving
satisfactory results on the following:
 
[Insert district-selected methods of demonstrating proficiency and/or a combination
thereof, e.g., mastery examinations (but which cannot be the sole measure), standardized
testing such as AP tests, portfolio review, passing required grade 10 or 11 classes,
teacher review committee of student’s body of work, or any other assessment method
determined by the Board or Administration.]
 
Graduation During Period of Expulsion
 
A student may graduate during an expulsion period if the Board determines that the student has
completed the necessary credits required for graduation.
 
Academic Advancement Program
 
Notwithstanding the graduation requirements in this policy, students shall be permitted to
graduate from high school upon the successful completion of the academic advancement
program established by the State Board of Education.
 
 
Legal References:
 
Public Act 17-42, An Act Concerning Revisions to the High School Graduation Requirements
 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-5c
 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-14n
 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-16b
 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-221a
 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 10-223a

Policy adopted:               March 13, 2006                                          WESTPORT PUBLIC
SCHOOLS
Revised:                                                                                                      Westport, Connecticut
 

[a]Students are still required to earn the credit in PE, but if medically excused, they can either complete
an alternative written assignment or retake the course at a later date.
[b]this needs further clarification: historically middle school world language, Algebra 1, and Geometry
have appeared on the SHS transcript but not earned credit; Algebra 2 Honors taken in MS DOES earn
credit (until recent years, the handful of MS students taking this course went to SHS to take the course)
[c]currently we only grant credit for online courses taken through Edmentum/Plato (the district
sanctioned software), not if a student just goes out and takes any old online course; not sure if that
needs to be specified
[d]cut?
[e]I would check with Anthony and department coordinators about whether these standards still apply
or need to be updated
[f]???
[g]???

October 8, 2019     Page 78

jcaputo
Rectangle

jcaputo
Rectangle


	Policy Comm Minutes for September 10, 2019
	Policy Comm Minutes for September 17, 2019
	Policy Comm Minutes for September 24, 2019
	Policy Comm Minutes for October 1, 2019
	P 4111.1 AND 4211.1 Equal Employment Opportunity Redline 10-1-19
	6146 Graduation Requirements REDLINE
	09e771Model_Policy_-_Instruction_Credit_for_Online_Courses
	CABE 6172.6 Online Coursework
	P4118.234_5141.234 Psychotropic Drugs Redline
	P4212.42 Drug and Alcohol Testing for Bus Drivers Redline
	P5131.6 Drug and Alcohol Use by Students Redline
	P5118.1 Homeless Students Redline
	P5125.11 Health Medical Records Redline
	P5131.7 Weapons Redline
	P5144.4 Physical Exercise and Student Discipline Redline
	P5145.511 Sexual Abuse Prevention and Education Program Redline
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



